## GENETIC DIFFERENTIATION OF EUROPEAN BLACK POPLAR (*POPULUS NIGRA* L.) CLONES AND POPULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO SOME ENZYMES INVOLVED IN BIOSYNTHESIS OF CELLULOSE AND LIGNIN

## A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

BY

BİRCAN TAŞKIRAN

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN BIOLOGY

JANUARY 2020

Approval of the thesis:

## GENETIC DIFFERENTIATION OF EUROPEAN BLACK POPLAR (POPULUS NIGRA L.) CLONES AND POPULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO SOME ENZYMES INVOLVED IN BIOSYNTHESIS OF CELLULOSE AND LIGNIN

submitted by **BİRCAN TAŞKIRAN** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy in Biology Department, Middle East Technical University** by,

Prof. Dr. Halil Kalıpçılar Dean, Graduate School of <b>Natural and Applied Sciences</b>	
Prof. Dr. Ayşegül Gözen Head of Department, <b>Biological Sciences</b>	
Prof. Dr. Zeki Kaya Supervisor, <b>Biological Sciences, METU</b>	
Prof. Dr. Nülüfer Tülin Güray Co-Supervisor, <b>Biological Sciences, METU</b>	
Examining Committee Members:	
Prof. Dr. Orhan Adalı Biological Sciences, METU	
Prof. Dr. Zeki Kaya Biological Sciences, METU	
Prof. Dr. Füsun Eyidoğan Program of Primary Education, Başkent University	
Prof. Dr. Sertaç Önde Biological Sciences, METU	
Prof. Dr. Özlem Yıldırım Biology, Ankara University	
	Date: 31.01.2020

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Surname: Bircan Taşkıran

Signature:

### ABSTRACT

## GENETIC DIFFERENTIATION OF EUROPEAN BLACK POPLAR (POPULUS NIGRA L.) CLONES AND POPULATIONS WITH RESPECT TO SOME ENZYMES INVOLVED IN BIOSYNTHESIS OF CELLULOSE AND LIGNIN

Taşkıran, Bircan Doctor of Philosophy, Biology Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Zeki Kaya Co-Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Nülüfer Tülin Güray

January 2020, 106 pages

The European black poplar, (*Populus nigra* L.) is ecologically and economically important fast-growing trees. Its wide distribution range in northern hemisphere, easy vegetative propagation, rapid growth rate and hybridization ability, and also its biomass source potential make European black poplar a perfect candidate for lignocellulosic biomass production. In this study, specific activities of two important cellulose related (SuSy and UGPase) and three lignin pathway related (PAL, 4CL, and CAD) enzymes, were evaluated in natural P. nigra clones. In addition to cellulose and lignin related enzyme activities, cellulose, lignin, and glucose contents, as well as height and diameter of clones were examined to explore genetic variance components, heritability of traits, and relationships between these traits. Also, clones with lignocellulosic potential were identified to be used for future breeding studies and industrial applications. As a total, 285 clones (genotypes) represented by 4 ramets and replicated twice are used for the study. The results of our study indicated that the great portion of total variation was due to clonal variation ranging from 33.0% (in UGPase) to 64.1% (in glucose). Moderate to high clonal heritabilities were estimated for traits ranging from 0.50 (in UGPase) to 0.80 (in glucose). All lignin related traits showed moderate heritabilities ranging from 0.53 (in CAD) to 0.61 (in PAL). Number of clones with desired cellulose and lignin properties were found. One of these clones, 62160 was among the highest 12 clones regarding UGPase, SuSy, cellulose, height, and diameter, but it was also among the lowest 12 clones with respect to PAL and CAD activities. Phenotypic correlations of cellulose content with SuSy ( $r_p$ =0.184) and UGPase ( $r_p$ =0.160) were low, but significant. Although PAL, 4CL, and CAD were positively correlated with each other, surprisingly there were no significant relationships detected between lignin content and these enzymes. The positive correlation among these phenylpropanoid pathway enzymes clearly demonstrated the flux of the substrate into the pathway, but no relationships between lignin content and them suggested that there might be more complicated regulations in the pathway which leads to change in lignin composition rather than lignin deposition.

Keywords: Populus, cellulose, lignin, enzymes, and genetics

## SELÜLOZ VE LİGNİN BİYOSENTEZİNDE YER ALAN BAZI ENZİMLER BAKIMINDAN AVRUPA KARA KAVAK (*POPULUS NIGRA* L.) KLON VE POPULASYONLARININ GENETİK FARKLILAŞMASI

Taşkıran, Bircan Doktora, Biyoloji Tez Danışmanı: Prof. Dr. Zeki Kaya Ortak Tez Danışmanı: Prof. Dr. Nülüfer Tülin Güray

### Ocak 2020, 106 sayfa

Avrupa kara kavağı (*Populus nigra* L.) ekolojik ve ekonomik olarak önemli ve hızlı büyüyen bir ağaçtır. Kuzey yarımküredeki yaygın dağılımı, vejetatif üreme ile çoğalabilmesi, hızlı büyüme oranı ve melezleşme kabiliyeti ve ayrıca biyokütle kaynağı olarak potansiyeli, Avrupa kara kavağını lignoselülozik biyokütle üretimi için mükemmel bir aday yapmaktadır. Bu çalışmada, selüloz ile ilişkili iki önemli enzim (SuSy ve UGPase) ve üç lignin yolağı ile ilişkili enzim (PAL, 4CL ve CAD) özgül aktiviteleri açısından *P. nigra* klonlarında değerlendirilmiştir. Selüloz ve lignin ile ilişkili enzim aktivitelerine ilaveten, klonların selüloz, lignin, glukoz içerikleri ve boy, çap ölçüleri, genetik varyasyon bileşenlerini ve bu karakterlerin kalıtımını ve aralarındaki ilişkiyi belirlemek için gerçekleştirilmiştir. Ayrıca, gelecekteki ıslah çalışmalarında ve endüstriyel uygulamalarda kullanılmak üzere, lignoselülozik potansiyeli olan klonlar belirlenmiştir. Çalışmada toplam, iki tekrardan alınan ve 4 ramet ile temsil edilen 285 klon (genotip) kullanılmıştır. Çalışmanın sonuçları, toplam varyasyonun büyük bir kısmının, %33,0 (UGPase'de) ve 64,1% (glukozda) aralığında değiştiğini ve klonal farklılıktan kaynaklandığını göstermiştir. Karakterler için 0,50 (UGPase'de) ve 0,80 (glukozda) aralığında değişen, orta dereceden yükseğe klonal kalıtım dereceleri tahmin edilmiştir. Tüm lignin ile ilişkili karakterler 0,53 (CAD) ve 0,61 (PAL) aralığında yer alan orta kalıtım dereceleri göstermiştir. İstenilen selüloz ve lignin özelliklerine sahip bazı klonlar belirlenmiştir. Bu klonlardan bir tanesi olan 62160 nolu klon, UGPase, SuSy, selüloz, boy ve çap açısından en yüksek olan 12 klon arasında yer alırken, PAL ve CAD aktiviteleri açısından ise en düşük değerlere sahip olan 12 klon arasında yer almıştır. Selüloz ile SuSY (rf=0.184) ve UGPase (rf=0.160) arasında ki fenotipik korelasyonlar düşük, fakat anlamlıdır. PAL, 4CL ve CAD enzimleri birbirleri ile pozitif korelasyon gösterirken, lignin içeriği ve bu enzimler arasında anlamlı bir ilişki tespit edilememiştir. Fenilpropanoid yolağında yer alan bu enzimler arasındaki pozitif korelasyon, yolaktaki substrat akışını açıkça gösterirken, lignin içeriği ve bu enzimler arasında ilişki tespit edilememiştir edilememiş olması, yolakta lignin depolanması yerine, lignin bileşiminde değişime neden olabilecek daha karmaşık bir düzenleme olabileceğini düşündürmektedir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Populus, selüloz, lignin, enzim, and genetik

To my family,

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Zeki Kaya for his guidance, support and advices throughout the study. Moreover, I am thankful to his kindness and endless patience. I would like to specially thank to my co-supervisor Prof. Dr. N. Tülin Güray for her great suggestions, critics, and encouragements all through my thesis and experiment periods. I will always proud of being your students.

I am deeply thankful to Prof. Dr. Sertaç Önde for his supports during this long run. I am also thankful to all members of thesis examining committee for their valuable comments and suggestions.

This thesis was supported by the research funds: METU-BAP-01-08-2017-004, METU-GAP-108-2018-2772, and METU-GAP-108-2019-10191. I would like to thank Ministry of Forest and Water Affairs for plant materials. Also, I specifically thank to TÜBİTAK because of 2214-A PhD scholarship that I was honoured.

I would like to give my special thanks to my dear cousin Huriye Yener and our special project student Funda Zekiye Ardıç and my siblings Serdar Taşkıran, Ercan Taşkıran, and Hicran Karataş for their great help and support during collection of samples and preparation stages of experiments.

I would also like to express my gratitude to every member of our laboratory, especially to Funda Özdeğirmenci, Asiye Çiftçi and Çiğdem Kansu for their friendship.

Also, I would like to thank my precious friends Fatma Altun, Nurcan Çamdereli, and Emine Kork for their love and friendship during my last twenty years. I would like to thank my dearest sister Hicran Karataş for being my best friend and for her endless support.

I am also deeply thankful to my positivist friends Pelin Acar and M. Alev Ateş for their endless support and for our lovely coffee hours.

Last but not least, I would like to express my deepest thanks to my family for their endless love, patience, support and encouragements all through my life. My mother Sevim Taşkıran, my father Mustafa Taşkıran, my sister Hicran Karataş, my brothers Ercan Taşkıran and Serdar Taşkıran, and my sister-in law Tuğba Taşkıran, I am greatful and thankful to all of you.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	V
ÖZ	vii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	x
TABLE OF CONTENTS	xii
LIST OF TABLES	XV
LIST OF FIGURES	xvi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xviii
LIST OF SYMBOLS	xxi
CHAPTERS	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. European Black Poplar	1
1.1.1. Biology, distribution, and importance	1
1.1.2. Conservation and Breeding Efforts in Turkey	3
1.2. Wood	4
1.2.1. Cellulose	7
1.2.1.1. Sucrose Synthase (SuSy)	9
1.2.1.2. UDP-Glucose Pyrophoshorylase (UGPase)	10
1.2.2. Lignin	11
1.2.2.1. Phenlyalanine Ammonia-Lyase (PAL)	14
1.2.2.2. 4-Coumarate: Coenzyme-A Ligase (4CL)	15
1.2.2.3. Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase (CAD)	16
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	19

2.1. Lignocellulosic plant biomass	19
2.1.1. Cell wall polysaccharides modification	21
2.1.2. Lignin modification	22
2.2. Justification of the study	24
2.3. Objectives of the study	26
3. MATERIALS & METHODS	27
3.1. Materials	27
3.1.1. Plant Materials and Sampling	27
3.1.2. Chemicals	29
3.2. Methods	29
3.2.1. Protein Extraction and Quantification	29
3.2.2. Enzyme Activity Assays	31
3.2.2.1. Sucrose Synthase (SuSy) Assay	31
3.2.2.2. UDP-Glucose Pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) Assay	32
3.2.2.3. Phenylalanine Ammonia Lyase (PAL) Assay	33
3.2.2.4. 4-Coumarate: Coenzyme-A Ligase (4CL) Assay	34
3.2.2.5. Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase (CAD) Assay	34
3.3. Wood Traits	35
3.4. Data Analysis	35
3.4.1. Investigating genetic variations in cell wall related enzyr components and growth traits	nes, cell wall 36
3.4.2. Investigation of the relationship between the cell wall related wall components and growth traits	enzymes, cell
3.4.3. Determination of the potential lignocellulosic clones	

4.	RESULTS	9
	4.1. Genetic variations in cell wall related enzymes, cell wall components an growth traits	d 1
	4.2. Determination of the relationship between studied traits	7
	4.3. Determination of potential lignosellulosic clones	0
5.	DISCUSSION	9
	5.1. Genetic variations in European black poplar populations	9
	5.2. Relationships among studied traits	2
	5.3. Lignocellulosic clones	5
6.	CONCLUSION	9
R	EFERENCES	1
A	PPENDICES	
А	PPENDIX A. The origin of European black poplar trees in Behiçbey clone bank 9	1
А	PPENDIX B10	0
A	PPENDIX C10	1
	C.1. Total Protein Content Estimation	1
	C.2. PAL Specific Activity Calculation	1
	C.3. Estimation of Cellulose Content	2
	C.4. Preparation of Cellulose Standard	2
	C.5. Estimation of Acid - Soluble Lignin Content	3
	C.6. Estimation of D-Glucose Content	4
	C.7. Preparation of D-Glucose Standard	4
C	URRICULUM VITAE10	5

# LIST OF TABLES

# TABLES

Table 3.1. Information on the clonal experiment of European black poplar established
in Behiçbey Nursery
Table 3.2. Measured Populus nigra traits and their units 29
Table 4.1. Descriptive statistics of all traits 41
Table 4.2. Mean squares, variance components as percent of total variance (VC), and
broad sense heritability estimates (h <sup>2</sup> ) for the studied traits42
Table 4.3. Population and overall means (± standart deviations) for the traits in the
study
Table 4.4. Phenotypic (above diagonal) and genetic (below diagonal) correlations
between studied traits
Table A.1. The Origin of European Black Poplar Trees in Behiçbey Clone Bank89
Table B.1. Mean squares, variance components as percent of total variance (VC), and
broad sense heritability estimates (h <sup>2</sup> ) for the studied traits of all clones without
removing duplicated clones
Table B.2. Pearson correlations coefficients between studied traits 100

# LIST OF FIGURES

# FIGURES

Figure 1.1. A. European black poplar tree, B. Female catkins, C. Male catkins, D.
Distribution map of black poplar EUFORGEN 20152
Figure 1.2. Cell wall composition of Dicotyledonous plants. A. Primary cell walls, B.
Lignified secondary cell walls
Figure 1.3. Removal of wood by region
Figure 1.4. Basic structure of cellulose with $\beta$ 1-4 linked cellubiose repeating units 8
Figure 1.5. Hierarchical structure of cellulose derived from wood
Figure 1.6. Overview of UDP-Glucose biosynthesis9
Figure 1.7. Representation of a lignin polymer from poplar, as predicted from NMR-
based lignin analysis
Figure 1.8. Lignin biosynthesis pathway in plants
Figure 1.9. The deamination of L-phenylananine by PAL enzyme14
Figure 1.10. Role of 4-Coumarate:CoA ligase as a branch point enzyme16
Figure 1.11. Reactions catalyzed by Cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) enzyme
Figure 3.1. Steps of the Sucrose synthase (SuSy) enzyme assay
Figure 3.2. Steps of the UDP-Glucose pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) enzyme assay33
Figure 3.3. Phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) enzyme assay
Figure 3.4. 4-Coumarate: CoA ligase (4CL) enzyme assay
Figure 3.5. Cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) enzyme assay
Figure 4.1. Frequency distribution of all traits in European black poplar clones40
Figure 4.2. Boxplots of SuSy activity
Figure 4.3. Boxplots of UGPase activity
Figure 4.4.Boxplots of CAD activity
Figure 4.5. Boxplots of PAL and 4CL activities

Figure 4.7. Scatterplot matrix of studied traits by using 50 clones with the highest
UGPase activity
Figure 4.8. Twelve clones with maximum UGPase (A) and SuSy (B) activities and
cellulose contents (C)53
Figure 4.9. Twelve clones with maximum lignin contents and their PAL, 4CL, and
CAD activities
Figure 4.10. Twelve clones with maximum PAL (A), 4CL (B), and CAD (C) activities
Figure 4.11. Twelve clones with minimum PAL (A) and 4CL (B) activities and their
lignin contents
Figure 4.12. Twelve clones with minimum CAD activity (A) and lignin contents (B)

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AMP: Adenosine monophosphate
- ANOVA: Analysis of Variance
- ATP: Adenosine triphosphate
- Bp: Base pair
- BSA: Bovine serum albumin
- CAD: Cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase
- C. Anatolia: Central Anatolia
- CESA: Cellulose synthase
- 4CL: 4-Coumarate coenzyme A ligase
- CSC: Cellulose synthase complex
- CoA: Coenzyme A
- Cov: Covariance
- Dicot: Dicotyledonous plants
- DTT: Dithiothreitol
- E. Anatolia: Eastern Anatolia
- EDTA: Ethylenedinitrilotetraacetic acid
- EUFORGEN: European Forest Genetic Resources Program
- FAO: Food and Agriculture Organization
- FRA: Global Forest Resources Assessment
- GLM: General Linear Model

G6PDG: Glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase

- GWAS: Genome wide association study
- HEPES: 4-(2-Hydroxyethyl)piperazine-1-ethanesulonic acid
- HK: Hexokinase
- INV: Invertase
- IPC: International Poplar Commission
- KOH: Potassium hydroxide
- LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase
- MgCl<sub>2</sub>: Magnesium chloride
- MCP: Mean cross product
- MS: Mean square
- NAD<sup>+</sup>: β-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide oxidized
- NADH: β-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide reduced
- NADP<sup>+</sup>: β-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidized
- NADPH: β-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate reduced
- NGS: Next generation sequencing
- Open. Pol: Open pollinated
- QTL: Quantitative trait locus
- PAL: Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase
- PEG: Polyethylene glycol
- PEP: Phosphoenolpyruvate
- PGM: Phosphoglucomutase

PK: Pyruvate kinase

- PMSF: Phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride
- PP<sub>i</sub>: Inorganic pyrophosphate
- PVPP: Polyvinylpolypyrolidone
- SA: Specific activity
- S. Anatolia: Southeastern Anatolia
- SPS: Sucrose phosphate synthase
- SSR: Simple Sequence Repeats
- SuSy: Sucrose synthase
- TAPPI: Technical Association of Pulp and Paper Industry
- TÜBİTAK: The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey
- UDP: Uridine diphosphate
- UDP-Glu: Uridine diphoshoglucose
- UGPase: Uridine diphosphoglucose pyrophosphorylase
- UTP: Uridine triphosphate

# LIST OF SYMBOLS

- $\epsilon$ : Extinction coefficient
- $H^2$ : Broad sense heritability
- kDa: Kilodalton
- nm: Nanometer
- *r<sub>p</sub>*: Phenotypic correlation
- *r<sub>g</sub>*: Genetic correlation
- U: Unit
- Units / mg :  $\mu$ mol ml<sup>-1</sup> mg<sup>-1</sup> protein

### **CHAPTER 1**

### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1. European Black Poplar**

European black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) is one of the most important woody species with respect to its great potential for bioenergy production and other wood related products like timber, pulp, and paper (Porth and El-Kassaby, 2015). Besides being a pioneer tree species of riparian woodlands, European black poplar also appears to be good indicator of ecosystem diversity. It has a value for providing habitats to many living organisms, carbon and nutrient cycles, the rehabilitation of disrupted zones, the bioremediation of soils and the biofiltration of diffuse polluted water (Vanden Broeck, 2003; Gaudet *et al.*, 2008; Lewandowski and Litkowiec, 2017).

#### 1.1.1. Biology, distribution, and importance

European black poplar is a member of the Salicaceae family (willow family) and its natural distribution area ranges from Europe to Siberia (Fig. 1.1.D) (Vanden Broeck, 2003; EUFORGEN, 2015). It is classified in Aigeiros section of the genus *Populus* (cottonwoods). It forms different population types from individual trees to metapopulations along rivers and streams especially with alluvial soils (Siler *et al.*, 2014; Velioğlu and Akgül, 2016). European black poplar trees can reach to 2.5 meters diameter and 30 meters height (Fig. 1.1.A). They can reach reproductive maturity within 10 to 15 years and live over 400 years (Stanton and Villar, 1996; Vanden Broeck, 2003). It has diploid chromosome number of 38 (x = 19, 2n = 2x = 38) and XY sex determination system (Gaudet *et al.*, 2008; Geraldes *et al.*, 2015).

Eventhough the majority of flowering plants (90%) are hermaphroditic (contains both male and floral parts in the same flower), European black poplar appears as a dioecious species (separate male and female individials). Only 6 % of flowering plants are reported as dioecious (Renner, 2014). Wind pollination in black poplars, combined with their dioecy, has led to natural hybridization, allowing gene exchange with other poplar species especially with American *P. deltoides. Populus x euramericana*, the most common hybrid of black poplar, can be given as an example to the result of hybridization between *P. nigra* and *P. deltoides*. Yellow-green female catkins and purplish-red male catkins appear early Spring before the leaves (Fig. 1.1.B, C). In nature, black poplar trees can also reproduce through vegetative propagation, where genetically identical individuals, or ramets, arise clonally from roots or branches (Barsoum *et al.*, 2004; Ciftçi and Kaya, 2019).

European black poplar is a primary candidate species of many poplar breeding programs due to its hybridization potential, rapid growth ability, easy clonal propagation, quick adaptation to different environmental conditions, amount of biomass, harvest time flexibility, and low cultivation needs (Davis, 2008; Guerra *et al.*, 2013; Porth and El-Kassaby, 2015).



*Figure 1.1.* A. European black poplar tree (https://www.wikiwand.com/en/*Populus\_nigra*), B. Female catkins, C. Male catkins, D. Distribution map of black poplar EUFORGEN 2015 (http://www.euforgen.org/species/*Populus-nigra*) Retrieved on 10.11.2019

European black poplar is widely and naturally distributed in Turkey. The other native poplar species found in Turkey are *Populus alba* (white poplar), *Populus euphratica*, and *Populus tremula* (aspen). *Populus deltoides* is not a native species, but an introduced species for plantations. It has been reported that over 145,000 hectar of pure poplar plantations exist in Turkey. Half of this is planted with commercially registered European black poplar clones, remaining with several hybrids of black poplar and *P. deltoides*. Row plantations with poplars have been practiced traditionally in Anatolia for centuries and contributed to rural and natural economy by providing 3.7 million m<sup>3</sup> wood annually (Toplu, 2005; Birler, 2010; Çiftçi *et al.*, 2017). According to the Country progress report of the National Poplar Commission, total forest area of Turkey is 22.3 million hectares in where about 18.3 million m<sup>3</sup> wood material are produced annually (Velioğlu and Akgül, 2016). Unfortunately, there is a shortage of raw wood material to meet the increasing demand. Therefore, wood material import has been started already. This increased wood demand could be met with fast growing and adaptive new clones of European black poplar.

### 1.1.2. Conservation and Breeding Efforts in Turkey

Although, *Populus nigra* L. is both economically and ecologically one of the most important tree species, it has been among the most threatened tree species in Turkey and Europe due to the long-term human impacts (Vanden Broeck, 2003; Çiftçi and Kaya, 2019). Therefore, under the framework of the European Forest Genetic Resources Program (EUFORGEN), conservation and breeding programs of black poplar were initiated almost 50 years ago. After the initiation of a countrywide conservation program by Poplar and Fast Growing Forest Trees Research Institute (Kocaeli, Turkey), five natural populations were identified in the Eastern Anatolia (in the Melet, Kelkit, Munzur, Karasu, and Pülümür river basins) as an *in situ* conservation study (Toplu and Kucukosmanoglu, 2003; Toplu, 2005). In 1990s, over 750 black poplar clones were selected from their natural populations. After several

field trials, four European black poplar clone banks have been established in Behicbey, Ankara, Elazığ and İzmit with 297 clones including 5 commercial clones as *ex situ* conservation program. Gazi, Anadolu, Kocabey, Geyve, and Behiçbey are the first commercially registered clones selected as a result of these efforts.

To determine the genetic diversity of black poplar clones transferred to clone banks, "Genetic characterization of Turkish Black Poplar genetic resources and development of molecular black poplar breeding program" project was conducted between 2010-2013 with collaboration of Middle East Techical University and Poplar Research Institute. The effects of drought and cold, cell wall compositions, and genetic diversity of these clones with simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers were among the several outcomes of this project (Taşkıran, 2014; Zeybek, 2014; Yıldırım and Kaya, 2017; Çiftçi *et al.*, 2017; Çiftçi and Kaya, 2019). However, to conduct breeding program for the purpose of efficient cellulosic ethanol production, it is crucial to understand the mechanisms of wood biosynthesis in European black poplar trees.

### **1.2. Wood**

Wood represents the most important natural and renewable energy resource in our planet. It plays a crucial role in carbon cycle of terrestial ecosystem (Weih and Polle, 2016). The "wood" term is generally used to describe secondary xylem. Physical and chemical compositions of wood determine its mechanical strength and energy content. Wood is composed of cellulose (35–50%), hemicellulose (15–35%), lignin (15–35%), pectin (<10%), and integrated proteins (Plomion *et al.*, 2001; Takahashi and Schmidt, 2008).

Wood cells originate from the activity of vascular cambium. Formation of wood occurs as a result of complex developmental process called xylogenesis which includes four distinct stages: cell division, cell expansion, secondary wall synthesis, and programmed cell death (Demura and Fukuda, 2007; Déjardin *et al.*, 2010).

At the beginning of cell differentiation, primary cell wall forms. In primary cell wall, cellulose microfibrils are embedded in a matrix of pectins and hemicelluloses. When the cell reaches its ultimate size, formation of secondary cell wall starts at the inner side of the primary cell wall. Secondary cell wall is divided into three different layers, S<sub>1</sub>, S<sub>2</sub>, and S<sub>3</sub> because of differences at arrangement of cellulose microfibrils. Lignin deposition occurs at the end of the xylem differentiation in all layers (Sjostrom, 1993; Plomion *et al.*, 2001). This lignified secondary cell wall is also termed as lignocellulosic biomass and represents the main energy source of the wood (Wang and Dixon, 2011; Johnson *et al.*, 2018). Compositions and structures of cell walls vary among different species and even within the individuals of the same species, tissues, cells, and layers (Fig 1.2) (Sticklen, 2008; Loque *et al.*, 2015).



*Figure 1.2.* Cell wall composition of dicots. A. Primary cell walls, B. Lignified secondary cell walls (Adapted from Loque *et al.*, 2015)

Beside its biological and ecological roles, wood and its products have been used globally by humans mainly as fuel and industrial roundwood which later processed as paper, panel, shelters and so on. It has been reported that a total of 3.8 billion m<sup>3</sup> of wood was removed from forests around the world in 2016 of which around 50 % was

used as wood fuel and the other half was as industrial roundwood (Fig 1.3) (FAO, 2016). This amount (3.8 billion m<sup>3</sup>) was 400 million m<sup>3</sup> higher than the amount announced by the 2010 Global Forest Resources Assessment (FRA) report for total wood removals (FAO, 2010). As a result of this increased demand and removal, the total forest area of our planet was reduced by around 23 million hectares between 2010 and 2016 years. The world's population was 6.4 billion in 2005, it is 7.6 billion today. It is estimated that it will increase to 10 billion in 2050. The demand for wood products will continue to increase as the number of humans grow (FAO, 2018).



Figure 1.3. Removal of wood by region (After FAO 2016 main report)

The key questions we should ask is from which sources wood come and how it should be produced whether it will be enough for demand or not. There has been a slight shift in the sources of wood towards to plantations rather than natural forests. If we could increase the plantation supplies with fast growing trees like European black poplar, it will be possible to meet the increased wood demand and to decrease deforestration rate of global forests. Therefore, understanding the mechanism and genetics of wood biosynthesis and the factors affecting its composition have been gained great importance. That's why, in the following parts of this chapter, the main components of wood, cellulose and lignin and the selective enzymes suggested to be related with their synthesis are briefly explained.

#### 1.2.1. Cellulose

Cellulose is the most abundant biopolymer on earth and the main component of cell walls. Cellulose biosynthesis is not only limited to plants, but also many bacteria, protists, algae, and even animals synthesize cellulose for various biological functions. (Grimson *et al.*, 1996; Nobles *et al.*, 2001; Kimura *et al.*, 2001; Römling, 2002; Domozych *et al.*, 2012). About 40-50 % of wood dry matter is comprised of cellulose and the majority of this cellulose comes from secondary cell walls (Delmer and Haigler, 2002). With highly stable and extremely insoluble nature, and also by its strong interactions with other polymers, cellulose plays essential roles in the organization of plant cell walls which define the shape of cells by controlling cell growth and elongation.

Cellulose is an unbranched linear polymer of  $\beta$ -1,4-linked glucose residues in which every other glucose unit is rotated around 180° with respect to its neighbor (Fig 1.4) (Mcnamara *et al.*,2015; Eo *et al.*, 2016). To form organized microfibrils, cellulose chains are held together by hydrogen bonds and Van der Waals forces (Nishiyama *et al.*, 2002, 2003, 2009). In plants, these insoluble microfibrils can reach an amazing length up to 15,000 glucose units with 36 hydrogen bonded chains (Somerville, 2006). Further, cellulose microfibrils are assembled into macrofibers and fibers (Fig 1.5) (Rojas *et al.*, 2015). Celluloses in primary and secondary cell walls display different characteristics. For example, while microfibril crystallinity and degree of polymerization are very low in primary cell walls, they are reported as very high in secondary cell walls (Müller *et al.*, 2006; Mellerowicz and Sundberg, 2008).

Cellulose synthesis takes place in the plasma membrane by membrane integrated cellulose synthase A (CESA) protein complexes (CSC). Plant CSC has been reported as a six-lobed rosette-like large structure which contains multiple CESA proteins

(Somerville, 2006; McFarlane *et al.* 2014; Kumar, 2015). Eventhough, it is suggested that 36 CESA proteins are organized in CSC (Saxena and Brown, 2005; Somerville, 2006), the exact number of CESA proteins in CSC is still uncertain (Xi *et al.*, 2017). Formation of primary and secondary cell wall involves different CESA isozymes and *CesA* genes (Meents *et al.*, 2018; Polko and Kieber, 2019).



*Figure 1.4.* Basic structure of cellulose with  $\beta$  1-4 linked cellubiose repeating units (Adapted from Eu *et al.*, 2016)



Figure 1.5. Hierarchical structure of cellulose derived from wood (After Rojas et al., 2015)

CESA proteins use cytosolic uridinediphosphoglucose (UDP-Glucose) as donor sugar to synthesize  $\beta$ -1,4-glucan chain (Brown *et al.*, 2012; McNamara *et al.*, 2015; Verbancic *et al.*, 2018). UDP-Glucose can be synthesized by the activity of three different enzymes (Fig 1.6) which are sucrose synthase (SuSy), cytosolic invertase (INV), and UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) (Delmer and Haigler, 2002; Joshi *et al.*, 2004; Barratt *et al.*, 2009; Fujii *et al.*, 2010; Tong *et al.*, 2018; Barnes and Anderson, 2018). Beside utilization by CesA proteins as a substrate, UDP-Glucose also serves as an immediate precursor for starch, callose, and pectin biosynthesis (Fujii *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 1.6. Overview of UDP-Glucose biosynthesis

#### 1.2.1.1. Sucrose Synthase (SuSy)

In the kingdom of plants, it is well known that sucrose is the major product of photosynthesis (Dinh *et al.*, 2018). It is exported from source tissues to non-photosynthetic sink tissues as a carbon source for various metabolic pathways (Stein and Granot, 2019). To be metabolized, sucrose must be hydrolyzed by either cytosolic

invertase (INV; EC 3.2.1.26) or sucrose synthase (SuSy; EC 2.4.1.13) (Tong *et al.*, 2018). While invertase cleaves sucrose into glucose and fructose irreversibly (Barratt *et al.*, 2009), SuSy catalyzes the following reversible reaction (Fig 1.6) (Coleman *et al.*, 2009; Baroja-Fernandez *et al.*, 2012):

Sucrose + UDP  $\leftrightarrow$  UDP-Glucose + Fructose

Sucrose synthase is a member of the large glycosyltransferase enzyme family. SuSy proteins are usually accepted as homotetramers with a molecular weight of 90 kD, - ~800 aa long (Schmolzer *et al.*, 2016). It has been suggested that there are two forms of SuSy found in the cells, soluble and membrane bound (Carlson and Chourey, 1996; Persia *et al.*, 2008). In the most widely accepted model for cellulose biosynthesis, UDP-glucose is provided to the cellulose synthase complex by membrane bound type SuSy (Carpita and McCann, 2000; Koch, 2004; Stein and Granot, 2019).

Based on the number of genes, considerable differences have been reported at the multigene family of SuSy between plant species. For example, six genes were identified in Arabidopsis and rice genomes (Baud *et al.*, 2004; Bieniawska *et al.* 2007; Hirose *et al.*, 2008); apple genomes with eleven distinct genes (Tong *et al.*, 2018); and only three genes were characterized in the maize and peas (Barratt *et al.*, 2001; Duncan *et al.*, 2006). In poplar genomes, 15 genes have been reported by An *et al.* (2014).

#### **1.2.1.2. UDP-Glucose Pyrophoshorylase (UGPase)**

UDP-Glucose pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) (EC 2.7.7.9) is a very important key enzyme for carbon metabolism and carries out the following freely reversible reaction (Fig 1.6) (Kleczkowski *et al.*, 2004):

$$Glucose-1-P + UTP \leftrightarrow UDP-Glucose + PP_i$$

It belongs to the nucleotidyltransferases enzyme class. It generally exists as a soluble cytosolic protein, but also as a membrane-bond one (Kleczkowski 1994a; Becker *et al.*, 1995). The direction of the reaction shows differences among source and sink

tissues. In source tissues, UGPase mainly produce UDP-glucose which eventually leads to sucrose formation by coupling the reaction with Sucrose Phosphate Synthase activity (SPS; EC 2.4.1.14), whereas in sink tissues SuSy is mostly responsible from UDP-glucose production and UGPase is mostly involved in its metabolism (Borokov *et al.*, 1996; Winter and Huber 2010; Coleman *et al.*, 2010).

The molecular weights of UGPase isozymes were calculated as about 51.7 kD in Arabidopsis (Meng *et al.*, 2008) and as 82 kD in wheat (Balan *et al.*, 2018). Over the last two decades, only two highly homologous UGPase genes have been identified in Arabidopsis (Ciereszko *et al.* 2001; Meng *et al.*, 2009b; Park *et al.*, 2010), rice (Abe *et al.*, 2002), and poplar (Meng *et al.*, 2007) genomes.

### 1.2.2. Lignin

Lignin is a natural phenolic polymer found mainly in secondary cell walls of plants (Fig 1.7) (Stewart *et al.*, 2009). After cellulose, it is the second most abundant biopolymers (about %30) in biosphere (Ralph *et al.*, 2004). Its complex structure and composition plays important roles in plants. Enhancing cell wall rigidity, providing hydrophobic properties and structural support, promoting mineral transport, being an important barrier against pests and pathogens, and involving in environmental stress responses can be given as several examples to these reported roles (Ithal *et al.*, 2007; Bhuiyan *et al.*, 2009; Moura *et al.*, 2010; Schuetz *et al.*, 2014; Liu *et al.*, 2018; Xie *et al.*, 2018).

Lignin is produced from phenylalanine by the general phenlypropanoid pathway in higher terrestial plants (Vanholme *et al.*, 2019). Monomers of lignin are synthesized in the cytosol and then transported to the cell wall to form lignin (Barros *et al.*, 2015). Lignin generally consists of three monomeric subunits; p-hydroxyphenyl (H), guaiacyl (G) and syringyl (S) units which are polymerized from three monolignols known as p-coumaryl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol and sinapyl alcohol, respectively (Fig 1.8) (Boerjan *et al.*, 2003; Weng *et al.*, 2008; Yoon *et al.*, 2015).



*Figure 1.7.* Representation of a lignin polymer from poplar, as predicted from NMR-based lignin analysis (After Stewart *et al.*, 2009)

In angiosperms, lignin mostly contains S- and G-units while in gymnosperms lignin is mostly composed of G- units and a small amount of H- units (Vanholme *et al.*, 2010). Based on lignin amount and composition, a great variation emerges between the individuals of the same species and among different species, tissues and cell types (Wang *et al.*, 2013). To illustrate, lignin in the cell wall of *Populus trichocarpa* trees was reported to be ranging from 16 to 28% and S/G ratio from one to three (Studer *et al.*, 2011).

Lignin and other cell wall polysachharides are collectively called lignocellulosic biomass and accepted as a renewable energy source for the production of biofuels. In regular processes, a chemical acid pretreatment at highly elevated temperatures is used to break down lignocellulosic materials, and all polysaccharides converted to monosaccharides by using different enzymes. Then the simple sugars are used to produce the desired chemical or fuel after fermentation by microorganisms or reforming by chemical catalysis (Loque *et al.*, 2015). Eventhough lignin is a very important component for plant fitness, it emerges as an undesirable polymer for these processes (Chen and Dixon, 2007; Li *et al.*, 2008). The need of chemical pretreatment which is costly and produces enzyme inhibitors can be eliminated by reducing the lignin content (Yang and Wyman, 2008; Min *et al.*, 2012; Wang *et al.*, 2018).

Therefore, understanding the lignin biosynthesis and gene expression has gained great importance to reduce lignin recalcitrance, to minimize lignin waste stream and also to increase saccharification efficiency in these commercial processes.



*Figure 1.8.* Lignin biosynthesis pathway in plants (After Yoon *et al.*, 2015). The enzymes involved in the pathway; PAL, phenylalanine ammonia lyase; C4H, cinnamate 4-hydroxylase; 4CL, 4-coumarate-CoA ligase; C3H, coumarate 3-hydroxylase; HCT, hydroxycinnamoyl CoA: shikimate hydroxycinnamoyl transferase; CCoAOMT, caffeoyl CoA 3-O-methyltransferase; CCR, cinnamoyl CoA reductase; F5H, ferulate 5-hydroxylase; COMT, caffeic acid 3-O-methyltransferase; CAD, cinnamylalcohol dehydrogenase

### 1.2.2.1. Phenlyalanine Ammonia-Lyase (PAL)

Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL; EC 4.3.1.24) catalyzes the initial step of phenylpropanoid biosynthesis in plants (Fig. 1.8). It produces trans-cinnamic acid by deaminating L-phenylalanine (Fig.1.9) (Vogt 2010). In plants, trans-cinnamic acid produced as a result of PAL activity leads to the formation of many important secondary metabolites which include flavonoids, alkaloids, condensed tannins, lignans, and phenolic glycosides, as well as lignin (Tsai *et al.*, 2006; Vermerris and Nicholson, 2006; Babst *et al.*, 2010; Vogt, 2010; Boecker *et al.*, 2011; Shi *et al.*, 2013). All of these products play crucial roles in defense of the plant against abiotic and biotic stress. Phenylpropanoid production rates and the flux to the phenylpropanoid pathway are determined by PAL enzyme activity (Wang *et al.*, 2014). PAL is inhibited with its own product trans-cinnamic acid (Fujita *et al.*, 2006).



Figure 1.9. The deamination of L-phenylananine by PAL enzyme

Molecular weight of PAL enzyme is estimated in the range of 270-330 kDa (Camm and Towers, 1973; Appert *et al.*, 1994). PAL isozymes form a homo- or heterotetramer (Cochrane *et al.*, 2004; Reichart *et al.*, 2009). In poplar, PAL isozymes are encoded by a small PAL gene family with five genes (PtrPAL1-5) (Tuskan *et al.*, 2006; Shi *et al.*, 2010, 2013). It has been reported that PtrPAL2, 4, and 5 are mainly expressed in
xylem, while the other genes are widely expressed in every tissue (Tsai *et al.*,2006; De Jong *et al.*, 2015).

#### 1.2.2.2. 4-Coumarate: Coenzyme-A Ligase (4CL)

Four-Coumarate: Coenzyme-A ligase (4CL; EC 6.2.1.12) is one of the key regulatory and stress response enzymes of the general phenylpropanoid pathway (Boerjan *et al.*,2003). It is well known that the first three steps of phenylpropanoid pathway are conserved in almost all dicots (Bonawitz and Chapple, 2010). The first reaction is catalyzed by the PAL enzyme, the next step is the hydroxylation of trans-cinnamic acid and it is catalyzed by cinnamate 4-hydroxylase (C4H). 4CL catalyzes the third step which includes the formation of activated CoA thioesters of hydroxycinnamic acids with two step reaction (adenylate formation followed by thioester formation) (Fig 1.8) (Vogt, 2010).

Metabolites produced by 4CL serve as precursors at the branch point to entry into different pathways of phenylpropanoid metabolism for the synthesis of lignins, flavonoids, and other phenylpropanoids (Fig 1.10) (Hahlbrock and Sheel, 1989; Lee at al., 1997; Lin *et al.*, 2015; Lavhale *et al.*, 2018). 4CL is able to ligate five cinnamic acids; 4-Coumaric acid, caffeic acid, ferulic acid, 5-hydroxyferulic acid, and sinapic acid, while 4CLs show a preference towards the first two in dicots (Rao *et al.*, 2015; Li *et al.*, 2015). Substrate affinity differences of 4CL isoforms may direct metabolic flux through different pathways (Allina *et al.*, 1998). Therefore, it can be said that the activity of 4CL enzyme determines and regulates the overall carbon flow to the phenylpropanoid pathway (Shigeto *et al.*, 2017).

In plants, the 4CL isoforms are encoded by a small number of genes. In *Arabidopsis*, four 4CL genes were found (Hamberger and Hahlbrock, 2004). In *Populus trichocarpa*, 17 4CL genes were identified (Shi *et al.*, 2010). Among these genes, Ptr-4CL3 and Ptr-4CL5 genes are reported to be encoding xylem-specific enzymes (4CL3

and 4CL5) (Chen *et al.*, 2013) and the interaction of these enzymes affects the metabolic flux direction and rate for monolignol biosynthesis (Chen *et al.*, 2014).



*Figure 1.10.* Role of 4-Coumarate:CoA ligase as a branch point enzyme. (Adapted from Lavhale *et al.*, 2018) PAL, phenylalanine ammonia lyase; C4H, cinnamate 4-hydroxylase; 4CL, 4-coumarate-CoA ligase; C3H, coumarate 3-hydroxylase; COMT, caffeic acid 3-O-methyltransferase; F3H, ferulate 3-hydroxylase

#### **1.2.2.3.** Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase (CAD)

Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase (CAD; EC 1.1.1.195) catalyzes the last step of monolignol biosynthesis, the reduction of hydroxycinnamaldehydes into cinnamyl alcohols using NADPH as a cofactor (Tronchet *et al.* 2010). In angiosperms, there are three main units found in lignin, p-hydroxyphenyl (H), guaiacyl (G), and syringyl (S) units and they formed in the cell wall as a results of polymerization of their

corresponding monolignols (p-coumaryl, coniferyl, and sinapyl alcohols) which are synthesized by the activity of CAD enzyme (Fig 1.11) (Campbell and Sederoff, 1996; Saballos *et al.*, 2009; Kim and Huh, 2019).



Figure 1.11. Reactions catalyzed by Cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) enzyme

CAD proteins are a member of the oxidoreductase enzyme class. Its molecular weight was estimated about 40 kDa with two subunits (Goffner *et al.*, 1992; Kurt and Filiz, 2019). CAD enzymes are encoded by a small multigene family. In *Arabidopsis*, 9 CAD genes were identified (Sibout *et al.*,2003; Kim *et al.*, 2004) whereas 16 genes were identified in hybrid poplar (*P. deltoides x P. nigra*) (Barakat *et al.*, 2009). It is thought that different CAD genes play different roles and the number of genes directly involved in the lignification process is relatively low. To illustrate, only AtCAD4 and AtCAD5 genes have been reported to be involved in lignification in *Arabidopsis* (Sibout *et al.*, 2005). In addition to this, it was shown that, expression levels and functions of CAD genes display differences under different conditions in hybrid poplar. *Populus* CAD4 and CAD10 genes were found to be associated with lignin biosynthesis (Barakat *et al.*, 2009, 2010).

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1. Lignocellulosic plant biomass

Lignocellulosic plant biomass comprised mainly of cellulose, lignin and hemicellulose and it is an abundant, renewable and natural source of organic material (Somerville, Bioenergy crops like poplar, miscanthus, switchgrass, and willow are 2006). commonly used as an advantageous feedstock for cellulosic biofuel production. Cellulose and hemicellulose found in these crops are converted into ethanol and other advanced biofuels in this process. However, the recalcitrant nature of plant cell walls challenges the production of ethanol from such lignocellulosic biomass (Pauly and Keegstra, 2008; Carroll and Somerville, 2009). Since cellulose is embedded within a matrix of hemicellulose and lignin, fermentable sugar release becomes limited. Lignin acting as a mechanical barrier prevents the breaking down of cellulose and hemicellulose by hydrolytic enzymes (Vanholme et al., 2008). Therefore, the release of sugar from lignocellulosic biomass is directly associated with lignin contents. Moreover, lignin inhibits fermentation processes, as it can absorbs hydrolytic enzymes (Keating et al., 2006). Also, as cellulose and hemicellulose are highly water insoluble, it is very difficult to convert them into sugars efficiently.

In order to improve the process efficiency and the yields of fermentable sugar, it is necessary to make cell walls more accessible to enzymatic degradation. Chosing and developing plant varieties with more desirable cell wall compositions may contribute to useable biomass. Ideal feedstocks should contain high cellulose and low lignin content, together with low ash content and optimum S/G lignin ratio. Therefore, the amount and composition of cell wall polymers and cross-linking between them, wood density, cell wall crystallinity and saccharification efficiency have been considered as

targets for biomass improvements (Porth *et al.*, 2013; Furtado *et al.*, 2014). Understanding the chemistry, structure and biosynthesis of lignocellulosic biomass components is crucial to manage the selection and generation of desirable biomass varieties.

On the other hand, the diversity and complexity of these polymers are associated with many different genes and particular proteins. The poplar genomes contain 40000 genes (Tuskan *et al.*, 2006). These genomes are highly heterozygous and show natural genetic variation (Brunner *et al.*, 2004; Cronk, 2005). They also show high adaptive variations and among-individual genetic diversity (Keller *et al.*, 2011; Wullschleger *et al.*, 2013; Evans *et al.*, 2014). In a SNP genotyping array study of *P. trichocarpa*, 3543 candidate genes were reported to be associated with environmental adaptation and biofuel conversion from wood (Geraldes *et al.*, 2013).

Wood from poplar trees show good proportions of cell wall components and superior quality. Altogether, glucan content ranges from 40 to 62%, and lignin content from 15 to 29% of the total dry weight. The remaining 14 to 24% of dry weight accounts for xylan content (Cronk, 2005; Sannigrahi *et al.*, 2010; Studer *et al.*, 2011; Porth *et al.*, 2013a). Actually, the great variation in cell wall components and wood related traits makes genetic improvement of poplars possible which make them superior feedstock supply (Mosier *et al.*, 2005; Wegrzyn *et al.*, 2010; Studer *et al.*, 2011; Mansfield *et al.*, 2012).

Since woody plants are very rich in lignocellulose than other herbaceous crops like switchgrass and alfalfa, they are perfect candidates for the production of second-generation biofuels. With fast growth ability, high resistance to diseases, and low management cost, poplar is one of the leading candidates among woody fast-growing trees (Sims *et al.*, 2001; Wang *et al.*, 2016). Poplar is also the model tree for genetic studies since the genome assembly is available for poplar (Tuskan *et al.*, 2006). Its moderate genome size aids to molecular breeding strategies (Karp and Shield, 2008). Recently, many different approaches aiming to improve lignocellulosic potential of

energy crops have been carried on by different research groups. Linkage maps, genome editing, genetic transformation, gene silencing, hybridization studies, SSR markers, and genome wide association studies (GWAS) with next generation sequencing (NGS) based markers are the most commonly used approaches in poplar breeding programmes and biomass related studies (Porth and El-Kassaby, 2015; Ciftci *et al.*, 2017; Liu *et al.*, 2018; Tuskan *et al.*, 2018; Wildhagen *et al.*, 2018; Clifton-Brown *et al.*, 2019; Ma *et al.*, 2019). Several progresses in these approaches related with cell wall polysaccharide and lignin modification are described below.

#### **2.1.1.** Cell wall polysaccharides modification

In order to increase specific cell wall sugars by genetic manipulation, glycosyltransferases and glycan synthases were considered as promising targets (Loque *et al.*, 2015). Surprisingly, cellulose synthase overexpression did not lead to boost in cellulose contents in poplar. However in the same study, silencing of endogenous cellulose synthases resulted in cell wall cellulose decrease and defective phenotype (Joshi *et al.*, 2011). Similarly, *Arabidopsis* CesAs mutants displayed reduced cellulose content and crystallinity and also dwarfism (Harris *et al.*, 2012; Fujita *et al.*, 2013). Recently, it was suggested that secondary cell wall formation may involve two type of cellulose synthase complexes in poplar. While expression of one type CSCs was increasing during the cell wall thickening, the other one is decreasing (Xi *et al.*, 2017).

Alternatively, it has been showed that overexpressing SuSy enzymes in poplar induce increase in cellulose contents of fiber cells in the range of 2 to 6%. However, this increase in transgenic plants did not affect the growth traits which remained similar to control plants (Coleman *et al.*, 2009). The achievement in this increase occurred without any apparent disturbing effect on biomass yield. On the other hand, it was reported that reduced expression of SuSy in poplar only reduced cell wall density but cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin contents were not affected (Gerber *et al.*, 2014).

Another study related with UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase showed that double mutant for UGPase observed with reduced cellulose synthase expression in *Arabidopsis* (Park *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, an increase in cellulose content in jute was observed as a result of overexpression of UGPase enzyme (Zhang *et al.*, 2013).

Alternative strategy is to reduce xylan biosynthesis in order to increase the ratio of hexose sugars to pentose sugars in the cell wall. However, plants in this approach by using xyloglucan synthase mutants ended up with dwarfed phenotypes and collapsed xylem vessels (Jensen *et al.*, 2014). In *Arabidopsis*, silencing of gylcosyltransferases which are involved in xylan biosynthesis also gave similar results (Hao *et al.*, 2014). In poplar, the reduction in secondary cell wall thickness was observed as a result of hemicellulose disruption by RNA interference. This reduction aided enzymatic saccharification and glucose yield (Lee *et al.*, 2009).

In the study of Porth *et al.* (2013b), 48 SNPs associated with cell wall carbohydrate traits were identified by GWAS method in poplar. Their findings showed that 5.7% of total phenotypic variance was explained by the effect of these SNPs. Also, SNPs involved in cell wall crystallinity were characterized in the same study (Porth *et al.*, 2013b). Moreover, in an association genetics study, some SNPs related with lignin and cellulose contents were reported in *Populus trichocorpa* (Wegrzyn *et al.*, 2010). Alternatively, it has been suggested that there is a certain relationship between identified SNPs and lignocellulosic traits in *Populus nigra* (Guerre *et al.*, 2013).

## 2.1.2. Lignin modification

Since lignin has negative effects on enzymatic hydrolysis of cell wall polysaccharides, there are so many research to alter lignin network and its content and structure in the secondary cell wall. The suppression of key phenylpronaid pathway enzymes is the most commonly used method to reduce lignin content. Phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) is the first enzyme of phenylpropanoid pathway. It has been reported that PAL expression in *P. trichocarpa* is upregulated by wounding (Tsai *et al.*, 2006). As a result

of four mutant PAL genes, lignin content was decreased around 25% in *Arabidopsis* whereas the susceptibility to pathogens was also increased (Huang *et al.*, 2010).

Coleman *et al.* (2008) found that inhibition of coumarate 3-hydroxylase (C3H) expression reduced lignin content in poplar and S/G ratio was also changed. In transgenic *P. trichocarpa*, suppression of 4-Coumarate: CoA ligase (4CL) expression lead to lower lignin content and increased saccharification efficiency (Min *et al.*, 2012). Similarly down-regulation of 4CL in hybrid poplars resulted in almost 50% of lower lignin content with respect to non-transgenic plants (Voelker *et al.*, 2010). By using, clustered reqularly interspaced palindromic repeats (CRISPR) genome editing technologies, three 4CL genes were edited in hybrid poplar and 30 trangenic lines were generated. Lignin content and S/G monolignol ratios were reduced in 4CL1 gene mutants (Zhou *et al.*, 2015).

Altering caffeic acid 3-O-methyltransferase (COMT) and cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) which are the last enzymes in the monolignol biosynthesis has almost no impact on plant growth (Jung *et al.*, 2012). Here, CAD manipulation was used to modify lignin content and whereas COMT was used to change its composition. However, recently it was reported that CAD1 deficiency also resulted in modified lignin content and structure in poplar (Van Acker *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, up to 50% reduction in lignin content and resulting increase in cellulose content were observed as a consequence of down regulation of cinnamyl-CoA reductase (CCR) in poplar (Leplé *et al.*, 2007). Also C3H RNA suppressed poplars displayed reduced lignin content, but also stunted growth (Coleman *et al.*, 2008). Mostly, plants with down regulated lignin showed collapsed xylem vessels and dwarfed growth. Recently, the first enzymatic based study was reported with reduce lignin content without abnormal growth by creating a competitive pathway for decreasing shikimate availability to phenylpropanoid pathway (Eudes *et al.*, 2015).

There are also several studies using association mapping or quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping methods to identify candidate genes related to lignin content and its

composition (Ranjan *et al.*, 2009; Wegrzyn *et al.*, 2010; Porth *et al.*, 2013b; Guerra *et al.*, 2013; Fahrenkrog *et al.*, 2016; Wildhagen *et al.*, 2018). For example, five putative QTLs for S/G ratio and lignin content were identified from *P. trichocarpa* populations (Muchero *et al.*, 2015)

As a mechanical barrier against pathogens, lignin accumulation plays an important role in plant disease resistance (Santiago *et al.*, 2013; Jannoey *et al.*, 2015). After infection with pathogens, cell wall accumulates a large amount of lignin which is rich in H unit (Zhang *et al.*, 2007; Miedes *et al.*, 2014). Rice PAL and C4H, *Arabidopsis* CAD5, rice 4CL and maize CCoAOMT (caffeoyl CoA 3-O-methyltransferase) genes were highly up regulated during various infections (Duan *et al.*, 2014; Trochet *et al.*, 2010; Liu *et al.*, 2016; Yang *et al.*, 2017). Similarly, various abiotic stresses such as drought, salt or heavy metal also cause lignin accumulation in the cell wall and expression levels of lignin related genes increase (Mao *et al.*, 2004; Hu *et al.*, 2009; Yıldırım and Kaya, 2017; Wildhagen *et al.*, 2018).

Overall, based on all previous studies, it can be concluded that the modification of lignin content and structure is possible through molecular manipulations. Also, engineering of lignin to reduce its accumulation can improve biofuel production efficiency. Lignin is a highly crucial polymer for plant fitness and survival (Liu *et al.* 2018), therefore it should be remembered that it is important for the maintanence of normal plant growth and development.

## 2.2. Justification of the study

It has been reported by many studies that poplar trees show natural genetic variation and cellulose and lignin contents change from one species to another. In order to improve lignocellulosic biomass, it is highly crucial to understand the mechanisms underlying the cellulose and lignin deposition. In this study, Sucrose synthase (SuSy) and UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) enzymes were selected to examine their roles in cellulose deposition. Even though Cellulose synthase (CesA) complex is known as the main cellulose producing machinery, it is not possible to isolate this complex to study its activity with the current methods. Phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) as the first enzyme of the phenylpropanoid pathway, Four-coumarate: CoA ligase (4CL) as the first regulatory branch point enzyme, and lastly, Cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) as the last enzyme of the pathway play significant roles in phenylpropanoid pathway. Therefore, these three key enzymes were chosen to understand their contribution to lignin deposition.

According to literature, the current study is the most comprehensive biochemical and physiological study which pools five key cell wall enzymes together in poplar in their natural states by using wide range of samples rather than transgenic forms. Investigating genetic diversity, the contribution of various factors to total variation, heritabilities of these traits, and also estimating relationships between these enzymes, cell wall components, and growth traits are highly crucial to understand the background of cell wall biosynthesis. The results and knowledge produced in this study might contribute to the future molecular marker assisted breeding studies.

After evaluating the genetic background and relationships among traits, a very important question was needed to be answered. How can we evaluate and utilize our European black poplar collection in terms of biomass production? Till now, only seven commercial clones were registered based on their phenotypic performances. However, as we can see from all studies and informations explained previous sections, it is highly crucial to chose and develop energy crops with lignocellulosic potential. As a fast-growing tree, *Populus nigra* has a great potential for biomass and bioenergy production. European black poplar clonal collections used in this study were selected from the natural range of the species in Turkey and results of sixty-years-efforts. The results of this study when combined with previous studies originated from our laboratory (Zeybek, 2014; Taşkıran, 2014; Yıldırım and Kaya, 2017; Ciftçi *et al.* 2017) which utilized the same clonal collection, it is possible to identify new potential *P. nigra* clones to be registered as commercial clones which will be suitable to different geographic regions of Turkey.

# 2.3. Objectives of the study

In this study, two important key enzymes namely, sucrose synthase (SuSy) and UDP-Glucose pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) of cellulose biosynthesis and three important phenylpropanoid pathway enzymes, phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL), 4-coumarate: CoA ligase (4CL), and cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) were selected in order to examine following objectives in *Populus nigra*:

- To investigate genetic variations in these enzymes, cellulose, lignin, glucose contents and growth in *Populus nigra* clones which were gathered as a long-term *ex-situ* conservation program.
- To estimate the heritabilities of traits
- To examine the relationships among lignocellulosic traits and growth
- To determine of European black poplar clones with high lignocellulosic potential to be used future pulp and biofuel plantations.

### **CHAPTER 3**

## **MATERIALS & METHODS**

#### 3.1. Materials

#### 3.1.1. Plant Materials and Sampling

Ankara Behiçbey *Populus nigra* clonal experiment containing two-hundred and ninety-seven clones (genotypes) was established in 2009 as an *ex-situ* conservation program with the collaboration of the METU, Central Anatolia Forest Research Institute in Ankara and Poplar and Fast-Growing Research Institute in İzmit, Ministry of Forestry and Water Affairs of Turkey. Details of the Behiçbey European black poplar clonal experiment can be found in the project submitted to The Scientific and Technological Council of Turkey, "Genetic characterization of Turkish Black Poplar genetic resources and development of molecular black poplar breeding program" (project number TOVAG-1100570) and also in the study of Ciftci *et al.*, (2017).

Originally, each genotype was represented with five ramets within each of the three replicates in this experiment. After grouping these genotypes according to their original sampling locations within the biogeographic regions of Turkey, they were defined as populations of clone collection (Table 3.1) and instead of "genotype" term, "clone" term was used to define these clonally propagated genotypes in the current study.

Due to missing clonal information, including commercially registered five European black poplar clones and foreign clones, there were 285 genotypes available for the study. To meet the objectives, 285 black poplar genotypes as a total of four clonal ramets from two replications were sampled from Behiçbey Nursery at the end of June 2015 to maximize wood specific enzyme activities.

Clone collection populations	Number of clones	Latitude (range)	Longitude (range)	Mean of altitudes (m)
C. Anatolia	81	37° 52' N - 39° 57' N	32° 35' E - 32° 54' E	1205
E. Anatolia	57	38° 25' N - 39° 57' N	38° 20' E - 41° 15' E	1829
Aegean	20	37° 42' N - 38° 45' N	29° 02' E - 30° 33' E	715
Black Sea	34	40° 15' N - 40° 40' N	36° 30' E - 35° 50' E	1163
Mediterranean	11	37° 05' N - 37° 37' N	36° 10' E - 36° 53' E	1027
S. Anatolia	10	37° 06' N - 37° 46' N	27° 23' E - 38° 17' E	748
Marmara	20	37° 47' N - 40° 05' N	30° 30' E - 30° 05' E	280
Foreign	18	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown
Open Pollinated	20	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown
Unknown	24	Unknown	Unknown	Unknown

Table 3.1. Information on clonal experiment of European black poplar established in<br/>Behiçbey Nursery

For measurements of enzyme activities, rectangular wood samples (around 7 mm x 5 cm x 10 cm) were taken from the trunk wood of five year old trees above 130 cm from the ground after removing the bark. Samples were immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C until use. Frozen tissues were ground in a mortar chilled with liquid nitrogen and crude extracts were obtained. Enzyme assays (Section 3.2.2) were immediately performed following the protein extraction (Section 3.2.1) to prevent possible protein degradation and activity loss due to faulty storage conditions.

In the study, altogether 10 variables were measured. The units of enzyme specific activities were calculated as " $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup> mg<sup>-1</sup> protein". Throughout the manuscript, for the ease of understanding, they are abbreviated as "Units / mg" (Table 3.2).

Variables	Units
UGPASE activity	
SuSy activity	Units / mg protein
PAL activity	or
4CL activity	µmol min <sup>-1</sup> mg <sup>-1</sup> protein
CAD activity	
Cellulose content <sup>a</sup>	
Acid soluble lignin content <sup>a</sup>	μg / ml
Glucose content <sup>a</sup>	
Height and diameter	am
(Yıldırım, 2013)	CIII

Table 3.2. Measured Populus nigra traits and their units

<sup>a</sup> Collected at the previous study by Taşkıran (2014). For the method details, see the Appendix C.

## 3.1.2. Chemicals

All chemicals and inhibitors used in protein extractions and enzyme assays were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. Bradford protein reagent dye and bovine serum albumin (BSA) standards were purchased from Bio-Rad. PD-10 Sephadex G-25 columns were purchased from GE Healthcare. All enzyme activity measurements were performed spectrophotometrically by using Multiskan GO (Thermo Scientific) microplate reader with 96 well flat bottom plates (Corning).

## **3.2. Methods**

### **3.2.1.** Protein Extraction and Quantification

In order to study the enzyme activities in relation to cellulose deposition, the wood sections were ground with a mortar and pestle in liquid nitrogen. For SuSy activity, 1.6 mL of 100 ml Hepes-KOH buffer (pH 7.5) containing 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2 mM EDTA, 2 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 1  $\mu$ M Pepstatin, 1  $\mu$ M Leupeptin A, 20  $\mu$ M PMSF, 0.1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 3% (w/v) Polyethylene Glycol were added to 0.1 g fresh weight

of wood powder. After chilling on ice for 20 min with two times vortexing, tissue debris was removed by centrifugation at 12,000 g, for 20 min at 4 °C. Immediately after centrifugation, 200  $\mu$ L of crude extract was used for enzyme assays in a total volume of 250  $\mu$ L reaction mixture, whereas the remaining supernatants were frozen at -80 °C as small aliquots (Schrader and Sauter, 2002).

To perform UGPase assay, 0.15 g powder was extracted on ice by adding 1.5 mL extraction solution containing 100 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5), 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM EDTA, 2 mM DTT, 1% (w/v) polyvinylpolypyrolidone (PVPP), 0.05 % (v/v) Triton X-100, 5 mM Aminocaproic acid, 1 mM PMSF, 1  $\mu$ M Leupeptin, and 1  $\mu$ M Pepstatin. The mixture was centrifuged at 14,000 g for 10 min at 4 °C. The resulting 10  $\mu$ L supernatant was used for UGPase activity assay immediately in a total volume of 125  $\mu$ L reaction mixture (Ciereszko *et al.*, 2001).

Protein extractions for PAL and CAD assays were performed as described by Cabanè *et al.*, 2004). 0.15 g sample powder was mixed to 1.8 mL of 100 mM Hepes-KOH buffer (pH 7.5) containing 2 mM DTT, 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 mM EDTA, 1  $\mu$ M Pepstatin, 1  $\mu$ M Leupeptin A, 20  $\mu$ M PMSF, 0.5% (w/v) PVPP-10, 0.5% (w/v) Polyethylene Glycol (PEG) and 10% (v/v) glycerol. Afterwards, the mixture was centrifuged at 18,500 g for 20 min at 4 °C. 1.5 mL of the supernatant was desalted using PD-10 Sephadex G-25 column (GE Healthcare) with 100 mM Hepes-KOH (pH 7.5) equilibration buffer containing 2 mM DTT, 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 10% (v/v) glycerol. The resulting desalted extract was used for PAL and CAD enzyme assays.

4CL protein mixture was extracted by using extraction buffer (1.6 mL/ 0.2 g wood powder) containing 200 mM Tris-HCl (pH7.8), 30% (v/v) glycerol, 8 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 mM DTT, 3% (w/v) PVPP-10, 1  $\mu$ M Pepstatin, 1  $\mu$ M Leupeptin A, and 1 mM PMSF. The extracts were centrifuged at 4 °C and 18,000 g for 15 min. 1.5 mL of the supernatant was desalted using PD-10 Sephadex G-25 column (GE Healthcare) with 200 mM Tris-HCl (pH7.8) equilibration buffer containing 5 mM DTT, 8 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>,

and 10% (v/v) glycerol. The resulting supernatant was used for 4CL assays (Li *et al.*, 2015).

Total protein content of the extracts for all enzyme assays was determined using Bio-Rad Bradford protein reagent dye with bovine serume albümin (BSA) as standard (Bradford, 1976).

#### **3.2.2. Enzyme Activity Assays**

## 3.2.2.1. Sucrose Synthase (SuSy) Assay

The activity of SuSy was monitored in sucrose synthesis direction by using a two-step end point assay that couples fructose and UDP-glucose dependent UDP production to NADH oxidation at 340 nm according to Schrader and Sauter (2002) with minor modifications (Fig. 3.1). All assays were carried out in triplicates and corrected for reagent and substrate blanks. The crude extracts were first incubated at 37 °C for 45 min in 100 mM Hepes KOH buffer (pH 7.5), containing 4 mM UDP-glucose, 20 mM fructose and 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>. The reaction was stopped by heating at 95 °C for 3 min. After cooling at -20 °C and vortexing, the UDP content of samples was quantified by pyruvate kinase/lactate dehydrogenase (PK/LDH) coupled reaction by using 50 µL of supernatant, 0.8 mM phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP), and 0.3 mM NADH as substrates in 100 mM Hepes KOH buffer (pH 7.5) containing 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>. After the addition of 1.5 µL PK/LDH (450 U PK/ 450 U LDH, Sigma-Aldrich) to a total volume of 200  $\mu$ L, the decrease in absorbance was determined at 340 nm by using the microplate reader. Molar extinction coefficient of 6.22x10<sup>3</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>cm<sup>-1</sup> for NADH at 340 nm was used for calculations. The amount of the enzyme required to oxidize 1 µmol NADH per minute was defined as a unit of SuSy.



*Figure 3.1.* Steps of the Sucrose synthase (SuSy) enzyme assay: UDP, Uridinediphosphate; PEP, phosphoenolpyruvate as substrate of pyruvate kinase (PK); UTP, uridine triphosphate; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase

## 3.2.2.2. UDP-Glucose Pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) Assay

UGPase activity assay was performed as described by Ciereszko *et al.* (2001a) with some modifications. The enzyme activity was followed in the pyrophosphorolytic direction of UGPase using inorganic pyrophosphate (PPi) and UDP-Glucose as substrates in the presence of phosphoglucomutase (PGM), glucose 6-P dehydrogenase (G6PDH) and NADP<sup>+</sup> to couple the Glucose 1-P production for the formation of NADPH (Fig 3.2). The standard reaction mixture contained 100 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5), 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.8 mM UDP-Glucose, 0.3 mM NADP<sup>+</sup>, 0.5 Unit PGM, 0.5 Unit G6PDH, and 10  $\mu$ L extract in 125  $\mu$ L total volume. The reactions were initiated with the addition of 1 mM PPi. All assays were run in triplicates and corrected for substrate (PPi) blanks. The decrease in NADP<sup>+</sup> was measured spectrophotometrically at 340 nm for 30 minutes at 25 °C. Molar extinction coefficient 6.22x10<sup>3</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>cm<sup>-1</sup> for NADPH was used for calculations. The amount of the enzyme required to reduce 1  $\mu$ mol NADP<sup>+</sup> per minute was defined as a unit of UGPase.



*Figure 3.2.* Steps of the UDP-Glucose pyrophosphorylase (UGPase) enzyme assay: UTP, Uridine triphosphate; PGM, Phosphoglucomutase; G6PDH, Glucose 6-Phosphate dehydrogenase

# 3.2.2.3. Phenylalanine Ammonia Lyase (PAL) Assay

PAL activity was detected spectrophotometrically by using L-phenylalanine as substrate and measuring the amount of trans-cinnamic acid formed at 290 nm ( $\varepsilon_{transcinnamate} = 1 \times 10^4 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ ) as described by Richet *et al.*, (2011) (Fig 3.3). In a total volume of 250 µL reaction mixture, 40 µL of the extract was mixed with 100 mM Boric acid buffer (pH 8.5) and the reaction was initiated with 15 mM L-Phenylalanine. The reaction was followed by using microplate reader at 30 °C. As a control, substrate blank was used. The activity was expressed as µmol of trans-cinnamate mg<sup>-1</sup> protein min<sup>-1</sup> (See Appendix C for specific activity calculation).



*Figure 3.3.* Phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) enzyme assay

### 3.2.2.4. 4-Coumarate: Coenzyme-A Ligase (4CL) Assay

4CL enzymatic activity was performed according to Li *et al.* (2015) with minor modifications (Fig 3.4). The reaction mixture contained 40  $\mu$ L crude extract, 200 mM Tris-HCl (pH7.8), 5 mM ATP, 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 0.2 mM 4-coumaric acid in a total volume of 200  $\mu$ L. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 0.15 mM Coenzyme A (CoA). As controls, both substrate and enzyme blanks were used. The increase in absorbance of the Coumarate-CoA ester was monitored at 37 °C spectrophotometrically at 333 nm for an hour with 5 min intervals ( $\varepsilon_{coumaryl-CoA} = 21 \times 10^3 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ ). 4CL activity was expressed as 1 µmol of 4-Coumarate converted to product per minute per milligram of protein.



Figure 3.4. 4-Coumarate: CoA ligase (4CL) enzyme assay

#### 3.2.2.5. Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase (CAD) Assay

The CAD activity was measured by following coniferyl alcohol oxidation to coniferaldehyde at 400 nm ( $\varepsilon_{coniferaldehyde}$ = 21x10<sup>3</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>cm<sup>-1</sup>) for an hour at 30 °C as described by Di Baccio *et al.* (2008) with minor modifications which includes slight differences in concentrations of substrates (Fig 3.5). The reaction was carried out in a total volume of 200 µL containing 100 mM Tris–HCl (pH 8.8), 0.5 mM NADP<sup>+</sup>, 100 µM coniferyl alcohol, and 40 µL enzyme extract. Substrate (NADP<sup>+</sup>) blank was used as control. All determinations were done in triplicates. Enzyme activity was expressed as µmol of coniferaldehyde formed min mg<sup>-1</sup> protein.



Figure 3.5. Cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) enzyme assay

# 3.3. Wood Traits

Cellulose, lignin and glucose contents of the studied poplar clones were previously given in detail by Taşkıran (2014). Briefly, cellulose contents were estimated spectrophotometrically at 630 nm by using cold anthrone reagent as described by Uppdegraf (1969). Lignin content determination was carried out according to the standard TAPPI Test Method T250 (Dence, 1992). Glucose contents of woods were calculated by using the combination of TAPPI Test Method T250 and the method of Hedge and Hofreiter (1962) (For the details of cellulose, lignin, and glucose estimation, please check Appendix C). Growth and diameter measurements used in the study were obtained from one year and two year old *P. nigra* clones (Yıldırım, 2013).

#### **3.4.** Data Analysis

Prior to the analysis of each trait, distribution, outliers, and homogeneity of the data were evaluated. A Shapiro-Wilks (Shapiro and Wilk, 1965) test for normality was performed on each quantitative trait. All traits were distributed approximately normal except for cellulose content. The log transformation was used to normalize cellulose content data. To check the assumption of equal variance for parametric tests, Levene's tests were performed (Levene, 1960). In the methods of univariate analysis, the average value of ramets for each clone in the replicate were used. On the other hand, average values of all measurements which represent the same clone were used for the methods of multivariate analysis.

In the study of Ciftci *et al.* (2017) where the same black poplar clonal populations were used, all samples were genotyped by using 12 nuclear microsatellite DNA markers to study the genetic composition. The results of the study revealed that the clone N0375 was sampled 84 times with different clonal labelling. In our study, to prevent such shortcomings, we developed two approaches while analyzing the data. In the first one, all measurements were taken into account without considering any repeated clones. With the second approach, all repeated clones except one representative were removed from the data and evaluated as all unique clones. Unless otherwise stated, the results of unique clones will be given in the text.

# 3.4.1. Investigating genetic variations in cell wall related enzymes, cell wall components and growth traits

A mixed model approach by the SAS® 9.2 Software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA). (Littell *et al.*, 1996) was applied to study the genetic variation underlying the traits. This Mixed Model ANOVA allowed us to estimate desired main effects of clones and regions by evaluating the undesired replicate effect using the following linear model:

$$y_{ijk} = \mu + b_k + r_i + c_{j(i)} + e_{ijk}$$
 (Eq. 1)

where  $y_{ijk}$  is the response measured to the *j*th clone of the *i*th region in the *k*th replicates,  $\mu$  is the overall mean;  $b_k$  is the random effect of replicate *k*;  $r_i$  is the fixed effect of *i*th region; and  $c_{j(i)}$  is the random effect of *j*th clone within region *i*;  $e_{ijk}$  is the random error effect within the experiment.

Variance components were estimated by using the restricted maximum likelihood (REML) method of the VARCOMP procedure in the SAS software. Duncan and Tukey's multiple range tests in PROC GLM of SAS were then used for comparisons of main effects. All statistical tests were conducted at 0.05 and 0.01 significant levels.

Clonal heritability ( $H^2$ ) of traits was estimated according to the method developed by Falconer and Mackay (1996) as follows (Eq. 2):

$$H^{2} = \frac{\sigma^{2}c}{(\sigma^{2}c + \left(\frac{\sigma^{2}e}{r}\right))} \qquad (\text{Eq.2})$$

where  $\sigma^2 c$  is the clonal component of total variance,  $\sigma^2 e$  is the error variance, and *r* is the number of replications.

# **3.4.2.** Investigation of the relationship between the cell wall related enzymes, cell wall components and growth traits

To understand the relationships among the traits, phenotypic and genetic correlations of paired traits were estimated. Scatterplot matrix of studied traits was plotted by using JMP<sup>®</sup>, Version 14 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, 1989-2019) statistical package programme. Phenotypic correlation ( $r_{p(x,y)}$ ) between pairwise traits *x* and *y* was estimated as described by Kaya and Temerit (1994) (Eq. 3):

$$\mathbf{r}_{p(x,y)} = \frac{\mathsf{MCP}_{c(x,y)}}{\mathsf{MS}_{c(x)}\mathsf{MS}_{c(y)}} \quad (\mathrm{Eq.3})$$

where  $MCP_{c(x,y)}$  is the mean cross product between clones within regions for traits *x* and *y*;  $MS_{c(x)}$  and  $MS_{c(y)}$  are the mean squares between clones within regions for trait *x* and *y*, respectively.

Genetic correlation  $(r_{g(x,y)})$  between traits *x* and *y* was estimated based on Falconer and Mackay (1996) with the following bivariate equation (Eq. 4):

$$\mathbf{r}_{g(x,y)} = \frac{\operatorname{Cov}_{c(x,y)}}{\sqrt{\sigma^2_{c(x)}\sigma^2_{c(y)}}} \qquad (\mathrm{Eq.4})$$

where  $Cov_{c(x,y)}$  is the clonal covariance between traits x and y, estimated as (Eq. 5)

$$Cov_{c(x,y)} = \frac{\sigma^2_{c(x+y)} - \sigma^2_{c(x)} - \sigma^2_{c(y)}}{2}$$
 (Eq.5)

and  $\sigma^2_c$  is the clonal variance component for traits x and y, respectively.

# 3.4.3. Determination of the potential lignocellulosic clones

Fifty clones representing the highest and the lowest mean values of the particular trait were determined by sorting average values of clones with EXCEL program (Microsoft, WA). Then, these clones were separately analyzed to examine possible changes on the relationship of the traits by using JMP<sup>®</sup>, Version 14 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, 1989-2019) statistical package. As a next step, the highest and the lowest 10 clones were selected. However, since a few clones were detected among the first 12 clones with respect to mean values of several traits, reporting the first 12 clones instead of 10 clones was preferred. Afterwards, the chosen clones of the trait were compared with the other related traits in terms of mean values and ranks.

### **CHAPTER 4**

## RESULTS

Prior to the analysis, normality, outliers, and homogeneity of variance were evaluated for each trait. Except cellulose content, all traits were normally distributed based on Shapiro-Wilks test results. In cellulose contents data, severe positive skewness was detected. To normalize this skewness, log transformation was performed. Other traits were not modified (Fig. 4.1). To check the assumption of equal variance for parametric tests, Levene's tests were performed (Levene, 1960). The results indicated that samples were obtained from populations of equal variances which leaded us to perform Mixed Model ANOVA by SAS software to check the contribution of different sources to total variation.

In this study, specific activities of five key enzymes acting on cellulose and lignin biosynthesis were measured and examined together with five other growth and cell wall traits. The wide-scale sampling strategy made it possible to perform appropriate statistical analysis to clarify the relationship between these enzyme activities and growth and cell wall characteristics.

As mentioned earlier, two approaches were followed for the evaluation of clones. Desriptive statistics of two approaches for all clone and unique clone data in which all duplications of N0375 clone were removed from the data did not show much differences in results of all studied traits (Table 4.1).

The results of descriptive statistics by traits indicated that, there are highly significant clone mean differences in studied enzyme activities. For example, in both SuSy and UGPase which are related to cellulose synthesis, mean values for SuSy specific activities (242.1  $\pm$  69.2) were five times higher than UGPase activities (51.7  $\pm$  12.1). Similar kind of pattern was also detected for lignin related enzymes. PAL, the



*Figure 4.1.* Frequency distribution of all traits in European black poplar clones: A. UGPase activity, B. SuSy activity, C. cellulose content, D. lignin content, E. PAL activity, F. 4CL activity, G. CAD activity, H. glucose content, I. height measurements, and J. diameter measurements

	1	All Clones	Un	ique Clones
Variable	Ν	$Mean \pm SD$	Ν	$Mean \pm SD$
UGPASE	281	$53.0 \pm 12.2$	196	$51.7 \pm 12.1$
SuSy	275	$243.5\pm75.6$	191	$242.1 \pm 69.2$
Cellulose	285	$20.3\pm10.1$	200	$21.0 \pm 11.2$
PAL	279	$6.5 \pm 2.2$	196	$6.6 \pm 2.2$
4CL	279	$3.7 \pm 1.4$	196	$3.7 \pm 1.3$
CAD	281	$1.0 \pm 0.4$	196	$1.0 \pm 0.4$
Lignin	285	$22.7\pm3.5$	200	$22.4 \pm 3.6$
Glucose	285	$34.7\pm8.2$	200	$35.2 \pm 8.1$
Height	285	$397.4\pm44.5$	200	$399.3 \pm 48.6$
Diameter	285	$28.8\pm4.9$	200	$29.6 \pm 5.3$

Table 4.1. Descriptive statistics of all traits

first enzyme of the phenylpropanoid pathway had the highest enzyme activities ( $6.6 \pm 2.2$ ) while the smallest mean activity values were observed for CAD ( $1.00 \pm 0.4$ ), the last enzyme of monolignol biosynthesis. PAL activity was six times higher than CAD activity and 4CL mean value is between these two.

# 4.1. Genetic variations in cell wall related enzymes, cell wall components and growth traits

Mixed model ANOVA, variance component and broad sense heritability estimations were performed with all clone and unique clone data separately to detect the contribution of repeated clones to the total variance. The results were similar to each other in all studied traits. All traits varied significantly among clones within regions (p<0.001). Except PAL activity, there were significant variation also among regions for the other traits ( $p \le 0.05$ ). (Table 4.2).

According to the variance component estimation, the great portion of the total variance observed in UGPase (65.3%), PAL (55.9%), 4CL (62.9%), CAD (64.0%) and lignin content (57.9%) were due to within clones. The proportion of variation due to clones within regions were ranged from 33.0% (UGPase) to 44.1% (PAL) of the total variance. On the other hand, the great portion of variations observed in SuSy (53.2%), cellulose (60.0%) and glucose (64.1%) contents were due to clones within regions. Within clone variation of these traits was estimated as 43.1%, 40.0%, and 32.9%, respectively. Altogether, the repeat and region components of variance ranged from 0.8% to 3.8% (Table 4.2). Estimated broad sense heritabilities which give the magnitude about inheritance of the trait were high for SuSy (0.71), cellulose (0.75), and glucose contents (0.80) traits. For the remaining traits, broad sense heritabilities were moderate and estimated as 0.50 for UGPase, 0.61 for PAL, 0.54 for 4CL, 0.53 for CAD, and 0.57 for lignin content (Table 4.2).

Trait	Rep. (df=1)	Region (df=9)	VC	Clones/regions (df=190)	VC	Error (df=199)	VC	$h^2$
Cellulose	65.54 <sup>ns</sup>	456.37**	0.00	241.00**	60.00	54.03	40.00	0.75
SuSy	1322.69 <sup>ns</sup>	17597**	3.75	9166.67**	53.20	2651.02	43.05	0.71
UGPase	161.51 <sup>ns</sup>	411.62**	1.67	284.20**	33.02	141.52	65.32	0.50
Lignin	3.32 <sup>ns</sup>	47.14**	3.16	24.57**	38.99	10.46	57.85	0.57
PAL	21.44*	4.26 <sup>ns</sup>	0.00	9.65**	44.11	3.81	55.89	0.61
4CL	1.26 <sup>ns</sup>	3.99*	0.81	3.34**	36.29	1.56	62.90	0.54
CAD	0.1 <sup>ns</sup>	0.36*	0.00	0.35**	36.00	0.16	64.00	0.53
Glucose	76.89 <sup>ns</sup>	207.44**	2.97	128.43**	64.14	26.20	32.88	0.80

Table 4.2. *Mean squares, variance components as percent of total variance (VC), and broad* sense heritability estimates  $(h^2)$  for the studied traits

<sup>ns</sup> Not significant at p < 0.05; \* Significant at  $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\* Significant at  $p \le 0.01$ 

Among all regions, SuSy activity was the highest for clones originating from Marmara region (288.7) and the lowest in foreign clones (185.8) (Fig. 4.2). On average, clones from other regions yielded similar SuSy activity. Like SuSy, UGPase activity was also the highest for clones of Marmara region (58.4) and it was the lowest open pollinated (45.2) and foreign (48.3) clone populations (Fig. 4.3). Similarly, the lowest mean CAD activity values are detected for foreign (0.7) and open pollinated (0.8) clone populations (Fig 4.4). 4CL was also the lowest in open pollinated population (3.0), but it was calculated as the highest in foreign clones (4.2). On the other hand, PAL activity did not change among regions and mean of regions was reported as 6.5. (Fig. 4.5) Differences among regions based on studied enzyme activities were mainly due to the foreign and open pollinated populations. In general, the region component of the total variance was very low (lower than 4%) for all traits (Table 4.2 and 4.3).



Figure 4.2. Boxplots of SuSy activity



Figure 4.3. Boxplots of UGPase activity



Figure 4.4. Boxplots of CAD activity

	1 aU.	IC 4.2. <i>F uputa</i>	nion ana over	ant means	$(\pm standar)$	aevianons	) Jor une ir ai	mnis aut ut stud	~	
Regions	SuSy	UGPase	Cellulose	PAL	4CL	CAD	Lignin	Glucose	Height	Diameter
C. Anatolia	$234.2 \pm 77.5$	$54.2 \pm 14.3$	$21.3 \pm 13.7$	$6.5 \pm 2.6$	$3.6 \pm 1.5$	$1.0 \pm 0.5$	$21.8 \pm 4.2$	$33.1 \pm 8.7$	$409.9 \pm 46.2$	$30.0 \pm 5.7$
E. Anatolia	$243.6 \pm 86.7$	$52.9 \pm 14.3$	$19.2 \pm 9.4$	$6.7 \pm 2.8$	$3.8 \pm 1.6$	$1.1 \pm 0.5$	$23.4 \pm 3.7$	$34.4 \pm 7.3$	$390.1 \pm 45.8$	$28.3 \pm 4.2$
Aegean	$229.6 \pm 98.6$	$53.4 \pm 15.6$	$17.5 \pm 6.0$	$5.9 \pm 2.1$	$3.9 \pm 1.4$	$1.0 \pm 0.5$	$23.5 \pm 4.4$	$35.9 \pm 8.7$	$400.2 \pm 36.4$	$27.5 \pm 2.7$
Black Sea	$255.0 \pm 81.3$	$53.6 \pm 13.8$	$19.7 \pm 6.4$	$7.0 \pm 2.4$	$3.5 \pm 1.6$	$0.9 \pm 0.4$	$23.5 \pm 3.8$	$34.2 \pm 9.3$	$383.2 \pm 48.7$	$26.4 \pm 4.0$
Mediterranean	$239.3 \pm 66.3$	57.2 ± 16.5	27.1 ± 17.8	$6.3 \pm 2.9$	$3.8 \pm 1.3$	$1.1 \pm 0.5$	$24.6 \pm 4.1$	$38.6 \pm 8.6$	$427.5 \pm 37.3$	$31.2 \pm 6.5$
S.Anatolia	$247.6 \pm 69.9$	54.2 ± 11.9	$20.5 \pm 10.1$	$6.4 \pm 2.2$	$3.6 \pm 1.7$	$1.2 \pm 0.6$	$22.2 \pm 3.9$	$34.7 \pm 8.7$	$399.2 \pm 31.7$	$28.0 \pm 3.3$
Marmara	$288.7 \pm 73.3$	$58.4 \pm 16.0$	$20.1 \pm 9.7$	$6.0 \pm 2.4$	$3.8\pm1.6$	$1.0\pm0.5$	$23.9 \pm 4.7$	$33.8 \pm 8.7$	$381.2 \pm 36.3$	$26.6 \pm 3.7$
Foreign	$185.8 \pm 64.7$	$48.3 \pm 11.0$	$35.8 \pm 28.1$	$6.2 \pm 2.9$	$4.2 \pm 2.0$	$0.7 \pm 0.6$	$21.3 \pm 3.8$	$40.5\pm6.3$	$394.7 \pm 40.2$	$27.9 \pm 4.0$
Open Poll.	$228.0 \pm 80.8$	$45.2 \pm 8.0$	$18.8 \pm 5.8$	$6.5 \pm 2.4$	$3.0 \pm 1.5$	$0.8 \pm 0.5$	$21.3 \pm 3.1$	$33.9\pm8.3$	$393.3 \pm 28.5$	$31.5 \pm 3.6$
Unknown	$261.5 \pm 71.1$	$52.5 \pm 15.4$	$19.1 \pm 8.5$	$6.2 \pm 2.3$	3.7 ± 1.6	$1.1 \pm 0.5$	$23.9 \pm 4.4$	$35.6 \pm 10.9$	$394.6 \pm 45.8$	$28.5 \pm 4.9$
Mean	$243.3 \pm 81.6$	$53.3 \pm 14.3$	$20.5 \pm 11.6$	$6.5 \pm 2.5$	$3.6 \pm 1.6$	$1.0 \pm 0.5$	$22.8 \pm 4.1$	$34.4 \pm 8.7$	$397.4 \pm 44.5$	$28.7 \pm 4.9$

Table 4.3. Population and overall means  $(\pm standart deviations)$  for the traits in the study





Figure 4.5. Boxplots of PAL and 4CL activities

#### 4.2. Determination of the relationship between studied traits

In order to understand the relationships among the studied traits, both phenotypic and genetic correlations were estimated. Phenotypic correlations ( $r_{p(x,y)}$ ) between pairwise traits were estimated as described by Kaya and Temerit (1994) and it showed very similar results with Pearson correlation approach. Based on phenotypic correlation results, it can be said that the result did not show any significant correlation between lignin content and lignin biosynthesis related enzymes. On the other hand, there were significant positive correlations between PAL, 4CL and CAD enzyme activities.

The phenotypic correlation coefficients (Table 4.4, Fig. 4.6) between PAL and 4CL, between PAL and CAD, and between 4CL and CAD were estimated as 0.218, 0.170, and 0.325, respectively. Also, PAL and CAD enzymes were slightly negatively correlated with UGPase enzyme ( $r_p = -0.11$ , p < 0.05;  $r_p = -0.122$ , p < 0.05, respectively). Interestingly, there were low positive correlations between SuSy and 4CL ( $r_p = 0.132$ , p < 0.05) as well as SuSy and CAD ( $r_p = 0.124$ , p < 0.05) enzymes. It was not surprising to detect positive correlation between cellulose content and SuSy and UGPase enzymes, but they were not as high as we expected ( $r_p = 0.184 p < 0.01$ ,  $r_p = 0.160$ , p < 0.05, respectively). Cellulose content was also positively correlated with glucose content, height, and diameter in the same manner, but we could not detect any correlation between cellulose and lignin contents. These results were similar to the results of our previous study (Taşkıran, 2014). Just like cellulose content, lignin content was also positively correlated with glucose content ( $r_p = 0.250$ , p < 0.01), whereas it was slightly negatively correlated with diameter ( $r_p = -0.139$ , p < 0.05). Lastly, two important phenotypic growth parameters, height and diameter measurements were highly significantly correlated with each other ( $r_p = 0.777$ , p < 0.7770.01) as expected.



Figure 4.6. Scatterplot matrix of studied traits

In general, degree and sign of phenotypic and genetic correlations did not follow the same pattern (Table 4.4). UGPase and SuSy enzymes, slightly and negatively correlated with each other ( $r_g = -0.336$ ). There were no genetic correlations between cellulose content and cellulose biosynthesis related enzymes (UGPase and SUSY) while there are positive phenotypic correlations between them. On the other hand, there are slightly positive genetic correlations between cellulose content and pAL, 4CL, CAD, Lignin and glucose contents. However surprisingly, there are negative

		)	)	)	-	~		
$r_p/r_g$	UGPase	SuSy	Cellulose	PAL	4CL	CAD	Lignin	Glucose
UGPase	1	0.032±0.12	$0.160 \pm 0.11$	-0.113±0.12	-0.105±0.13	<b>-0.122±0.13</b>	$0.090 \pm 0.14$	$0.066 \pm 0.11$
SuSy	-0.336±0.13	ł	$0.184 \pm 0.10$	$0.082 \pm 0.10$	0.132±0.11	0.124±0.12	0.022±0.12	$0.074 \pm 0.10$
Cellulose	-0.080±0.12	0.040±0.09	ł	0.097±0.11	0.050±0.11	$0.143 \pm 0.11$	0.060±0.12	$0.126 \pm 0.10$
PAL	0.111±0.13	0.080±0.09	0.270±0.09	ł	$0.218 \pm 0.11$	0.170±0.11	0.050±0.12	$0.002 \pm 0.10$
4CL	0.156±0.15	0.368±0.11	$0.196 \pm 0.11$	$0.101 \pm 0.11$	I	0.325±0.11	-0.010±0.13	$0.050 \pm 0.10$
CAD	$0.200 {\pm} 0.17$	0.471±0.12	$0.420 \pm 0.11$	$0.014\pm0.11$	0.187±0.13	I	-0.074±0.10	$0.080 \pm 0.10$
Lignin	$0.683 \pm 0.19$	0.274±0.12	0.263±0.12	-0.293±0.13	-0.490±0.16	-0.750±0.20	I	$0.250 \pm 0.10$
Glucose	$0.158 \pm 0.11$	<b>0.122±0.08</b>	$0.145 \pm 0.08$	0.020±0.09	0.030±0.09	$0.045\pm0.10$	0.320±0.09	:

Table 4.4. Phenotypic (above diagonal) and genetic (below diagonal) correlations ( $\pm$  standart errors) between studied traits

genetic correlation between lignin content and PAL, 4CL, and CAD enzymes ( $r_g = -0.293$ ,  $r_g = -0.490$ , and  $r_g = -0.750$ , respectively) though there is no phenotypic correlations among them. In addition to these interesting results, positive moderate correlation between lignin content and UGPase ( $r_g = 0.683$ ) and low positive genetic correlation between lignin content and SuSy enzyme ( $r_g = 0.274$ ) were detected.

## 4.3. Determination of potential lignosellulosic clones

To determine the clones with lignocellulosic potentials, average mean values of clones were sorted from minimum to maximum and vice versa for each variable. First 50 clones representing the highest and the lowest mean values were separately analyzed to examine possible changes on the relationships of the traits. Among these 50 clones, the first 10 clones were selected prior to analysis. But after realizing that particular clones had very close values with respect to compared traits, so the first 12 clones were used in evaluation of clones for studied traits.

To illustrate, when we analyzed 50 clones with maximum mean values for UGPase activity, the negative correlation coefficients between pairs of UGPase-PAL variables and UGPase-CAD variables increased from  $r_p = -0.113$  to  $r_p = -0.251$  and  $r_p = -0.122$  to -0.261, respectively. Similarly, positive correlations between UGPase and cellulose content increased from  $r_p = 0.160$  to 0.264. While all clones analyzed by phenotypic correlations, no relationship among UGPase and SuSy activities were observed. On the other hand, after selecting 50 clones with maximum UGPase activity, significant correlation was found between UGPase and SuSy traits ( $r_p = 0.243$ ). The same pattern was also observed between UGPase and diameter measurements ( $r_p = 0.300$ ). In addition to these results, the relationships between cellulose content and diameter ( $r_p = 0.462$ ) and cellulose content and height ( $r_p = 0.330$ ) were also improved (Fig. 4.7).

When we repeat the same analysis for SuSy activity with highest 50 clones, surprisingly we realized that lignin related enzymes PAL, 4CL and CAD were started


*Figure 4.7.* Scatterplot matrix of studied traits by using 50 clones with the highest UGPase activity.

to correlate negatively with diameter ( $r_p = -0.251$ ,  $r_p = -0.125$ , and  $r_p = -0.121$ , respectively). Also, negative correlation among lignin content and diameter increased from  $r_p = -0.139$  to  $r_p = -0.236$ . And for the first time, low but significant positive phenotypic correlation among lignin content and CAD activity was detected ( $r_p = 0.161$ ).

Same kind of results were also observed when the test repeated for PAL, 4CL, and CAD enzymes with their highest 50 clones. The results were similar to SuSy results

given above. Again, 4CL was negatively correlated with diameter ( $r_p = -0.237$  for PAL 50 max. clones,  $r_p = -0.239$  for CAD 50 max. clones, and  $r_p = -0.216$  for 4CL 50 max. clones). Moreover, based on the analysis with 50 maximum CAD values, CAD and diameter ( $r_p = -0.280$ ) was negatively correlated, too. In this analysis, PAL and 4CL were slightly and positively correlated with lignin content ( $r_p = 0.180$  and  $r_p = 0.130$ ).

On contrary to the highest 50 clone analysis, we could not detect any particular pattern and relationships among traits with 50 clones representing the lowest measurements of each trait.

All these results led us to examine the highest 12 clones in each trait and their corresponding ranks in the maximum and minimum 50 clones of other traits. The chosen 12 clones of the trait were compared with the other related traits in terms of mean values (Figures 4.8-4.10). Five of the 12 clones representing the highest UGPase activity were also ranked among the highest 50 clones with their SuSy activities and cellulose contents. Especially, the clone labeled as 62160 (the second highest clone) was among the first 20 clones in terms of SuSy (8. Highest clone), cellulose content (18. highest), height (12. highest) and diameter (7. highest) measurements. In addition to these results, it was also among the 12 clones which had the lowest PAL and CAD activities (Fig. 4.8).

Similarly, clones N91021 and 821 were among the highest 50 for cellulose, SuSy, height and diameter, but also, they were among the lowest 50 in terms of lignin content (Fig. 4.8). In SuSy 12 highest clones rank, besides clone 62160, one more clone, N90102 had also lignocellulosic potential. It was among the highest 50 clones with respect to cellulose content and diameter measurement, but also among the 50 clones which had the lowest lignin contents. The clones labeled as N91120, N92217, and N033681 were among the highest fifty clones with respect to PAL, 4CL, and CAD activities. Also, clones N92160 had the highest lignin content (Fig. 4.9) and N91068







*Figure 4.8.* Twelve clones with maximum UGPase (A) and SuSy (B) activities and cellulose contents (C) (Error bars indicate standart deviation)

was among the highest 12 with its PAL activity (Fig. 4.10A). Our commercially registered clone Anadolu was the highest 7<sup>th</sup> clone in terms of PAL activity. Previously, it was also reported with highly up-regulated PAL expression (Yıldırım, 2013).

Based on the lowest 50 clones with respect to UGPase and SuSy activities, the clones 62160, N020506, N91073, and N92169 were recorded with the lowest PAL, 4CL, and CAD activities. N91073 and N92169 were also among the clones with the highest UGPase activity. N90032 had the lowest PAL and CAD activities, but high cellulose content and UGPase activity. Similarly, N92232 was observed with low PAL and 4CL activities, but with high cellulose content and SuSy activity. Almost twenty out of fifty clones with the lowest 4CL activity were also detected at among the clones with lowest CAD activity. Our commercially registered clones, were generally observed with average values in terms of enzyme activities except height and diameter measurements. Kocabey, Anadolu, Geyve, Ata, Gazi, and Çubuk 2 were among the highest 50 clones with their cellulose contents and SuSy activities. Also, these clones were observed with low 4CL and CAD activities.



*Figure 4.9.* Twelve clones with maximum lignin contents and their PAL, 4CL, and CAD activities (Error bars indicate standart deviation)







*Figure 4.10.* Twelve clones with maximum PAL (A), 4CL (B), and CAD (C) activities (Error bars indicate standart deviation)

Since lignin is an undesired polymer of lignocellulosic biomass, the lowest 12 clones with respect to lignin content and PAL, 4CL, and CAD activities were also determined. The clone 62160 was among the lowest 12 clones with its PAL and CAD activities (Figures 4.11A and 4.12A). Additionally, N92295, N03366 and 7740 were detected with the lowest lignin contents. The commercial clone ATA1 and Anadolu were detected with low lignin contents and CAD enzyme activities (Fig. 4.12B). Foreign clone Lvubaka showed the lowest CAD activity (Fig. 4.12A).





*Figure 4.11.* Twelve clones with minimum PAL (A) and 4CL (B) activities and their lignin contents (Error bars indicate standart deviation)





*Figure 4.12.* Twelve clones with minimum CAD activity (A) and lignin contents (B) (Error bars indicate standart deviation)

# **CHAPTER 5**

## DISCUSSION

#### 5.1. Genetic variations in European black poplar populations

Previously, a study conducted by using the same European black poplar clones to assess their genetic diversity revealed that the clone N0375 was sampled 84 times and transferred to the collection with different clonal labelling (Ciftci *et al.*, 2017). Based on these results, two approaches were followed before and after removing all duplications of N0375 clone from the data. Interestingly, estimates of variance components and heritability in two analysis demonstrated great similarities to each other.

The results of the study on physiological and biochemical traits showed that there is high genotype effect on the phenotypic variation. This genotype effect accounted for more than half of the total variance for SuSy trait, cellulose and glucose contents, ranging from 53.2 in SuSy to 64.1% in glucose content. Similarly, the contribution of variation due to clones within region was also high for other cell wall related traits. It is clear that great portion of total variance ranging from 33.0 in UGPase to 44.1% in PAL was explained by clonal variation in UGPase, CAD, 4CL, Lignin, and PAL traits, respectively. In the study of Guerra *et al.* (2013), C6 sugars and lignin contents and S/G lignin ratio were measured from European black poplar. Variance component of clonal effects ranged from 45.2 to 70.2% for these traits that are compatible with the findings of our previous study (Taşkıran, 2014).

Biomass processing efficiency and fermentable sugar release in biofuel production is greatly affected from the genetic differences of plants (Davison *et al.*, 2006; Studer *et al.*, 2011). In the study of Wegrzyn *et al.* (2010), two-states-SNPs (homozygous AA and heterozygous AG) effects were reported as significant for lignin and C6 sugar

contents. The lignin content in heterozygous AG genotype was reported as 23.6%, whereas homozygous AA plants had lower lignin content (22%) which might affect sugar release in fermentation process.

Previous SNPs study indicated that small proportion of phenotypic variation can be explained by identified SNP markers associated with lignin and cellulose biosynthesis (1.1% to 3.7%) (Wegrzyn *et al.*, 2010). Rae *et al.* (2009) identified five biomass QTLs on chromosomes 3, 4, 10, 14, and 19 in poplar. Recently, 27 QTLs were identified in willow for wood chemical traits (cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin) on chromosome 14. These QTLs were explained 4.2 to 6.9% of total phenotypic variation (Pawar *et al.*, 2018). Similarly, in the study of Porth *et al.* (2013b), a phenotypic variance explained by all significant SNPs which were related to 17 cell wall and wood traits ranged between 5-26%. Therefore, based on these variation component results, selection at the clonal level could be practiced to improve lignocellulosic potential of the black poplar clonal collection for industrial plantations.

Not surprisingly, the effect of region was high in lignin content trait which explained 3.2% of the total phenotypic variation. As it is well known by numerous studies, lignin is a highly sensitive polymer to environmental conditions. Its composition and content can change based on different abiotic factors like drought, salt, and disease to strengthen cell wall (Moore *et al.*, 2008; Miedes *et al.*, 2014; Wildhagen *et al.*, 2018). The clones used in the study were originated mainly from three phytogeographic regions of Turkey which are Irano-Turanian, European-Siberian, and Mediterranean. These biogeographic regions reflect differences in climate, vegetation and endemism (Kavgacı *et al.*, 2015; Çoban and Willner, 2018). Our multiple comparisons by Duncan's multiple range tests displayed that the differences among regions for lignin content was mainly due to the clones originated from Mediterranean region and foreign populations. The highest lignin content ( $24.6 \pm 4.1 \mu g/ml$ ) observed in clones originated from Mediterranean region and foreign Mediterranean region can be explained by climatic feautures of the region. Summers are very long, hot and arid, whereas winters are mild and wet in this region comparing to other regions. Changes in temperature, precipitation,

photoperiod, and biotic diversity all occur in different regions (Keller *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, it is not surprising to observe regional variation in lignin content which is more sensitive to environmental factors for local adaptation comparing to other quantitative lignocellulosic traits. To illustrate, it has been reported that drought brings about change in lignin content and increases lignin accumulation in cell wall to increase the mechanical strength (Mao *et al.*, 2004; Hu *et al.*, 2009; Le Gall *et al.*, 2015; Yıldırım and Kaya, 2017).

On the other hand, the highest SuSy and UGPase activities, and cellulose contents observed at clones originated from Marmara region can be explained by the effects of past demographic events besides environmental factors. Marmara region is one of the most preferred immigrant-receiving regions of Turkey. With rapid industrial development and high employment oppurtunities, the region received quite number of immigrants from other regions in the years following 1950 and 1980 (Doğan, 2013). This demographic history might be responsible for population differentiation of these quantitative traits for local adaptation by artificial selection rather than natural selection. Beside this, the region also has the lowest altitude ranges and mild climatic conditions comparing to other regions which provide suitable environment for growth of European black poplar clones and eventually lead to local adaptation.

Clonal heritability  $(h^2)$  of each trait was determined to estimate their inheritance. Quantitative genetic analysis of lignocellulosic traits showed moderate to high heritability estimates ranging from 0.50 in UGPase to 0.80 in glucose. The highest values which confirm the strong genetic influence on the trait were calculated for PAL activity (0.61), SuSy activity (0.71), cellulose content (0.75), and total glucose content (0.80). On the other hand, heritabilities for other traits (UGPase, CAD, lignin content and 4CL) were moderate and ranged from 0.50 in UGPase to 0.57 in lignin content. Previously, Guerra *et al.* (2013) reported heritability of black poplar lignin content as 0.58 by association genetics study which is highly compatible with our result. These results suggested that the variations observed in traits with moderate heritabilities were also affected by environmental and climate factors. 4CL as a key branch point enzyme regulates the overall carbon flow to the phenylpropanoid pathway (Shigeto *et al.*, 2017). Recently, it has been reported that 4CL is sensitive to biotic and abiotic stresses and suggested to play important roles in stress response (Liu *et al.*, 2018; Sharma et al., 2019). As mentioned earlier, similar results were also reported for lignin content and CAD expressions (Trochet *et al.*, 2010; Miedes *et al.*, 2014; Le Gall *et al.*, 2015). The results of lignocellulosic traits before and after removal of the duplicates of N0375 strongly support our suggestion which states that beside genetic factors, heritability estimates for lignocellulosic traits are also affected by environmental factors.

# 5.2. Relationships among studied traits

At the early stages of our study, the possible regulatory enzymes of both cellulose and lignin metabolic pathways were selected expecting to see the effect of the activities of these enzymes on the amount of cellulose and lignin in European black poplar clones. As it is well known, wood quality and yield are directly associated with the composition and content of cell wall components. Therefore, the study of the relationships between lignocellulosic traits was the second objective of the study. However, in contrast to our initial expectations, the lignin content was not affected by the pathway enzymes namely PAL, 4CL, and CAD. According to our results, no significant correlation was observed between lignin content and pathway enzymes, though significant relationships were present between the enzyme pairs.

A phenotypic correlation between PAL and 4CL was estimated as  $r_p = 0.218$ . Also, for 4CL and CAD pair trait, it was  $r_p = 0.325$ , and for PAL and CAD pair trait, it was  $r_p = 0.170$ . In literature, there are no previous studies dealing with the effects of naturally found enzyme activities on lignin content. All previously reported studies are almost always based on gene expression or *in vitro* studies based on a relatively small set of data and sample size. In phenylpropanoid pathway, same enzymes can use different substrates. Not only 4CL and CAD, but also CCR and COMT have multiple

substrates (Tronchet *et al.* 2010; Vogt, 2010; Faraji *et al.*, 2018). As a result of this switch of substrates, different parallel pathways or interconnected pathways can be followed toward monolignol precursors (Valhomme *et al.*, 2019). Also, intermediates products of bypass pathway can become available for other branching pathways as substrates not directed to lignin biosynthesis (Chen *et al.*, 2014; Lin *et al.*, 2015; Lavhale *et al.*, 2018). So, there is multilevel regulation of the phenylpropanoid pathway and it is quite complicated.

Findings of positive correlations between lignin enzyme pairs clearly demonstrate the flux catalyzed by PAL and the following reactions catalyzed by 4CL and CAD. Several enzymes of the pathway are encoded by multigene families (Tuskan *et al.*, 2006; Barakat *et al.*, 2009; Shi *et al.*, 2010). As it is known, different isozymes of the same gene may have different activities, substrate affinities, and abundance in tissues and organs. Li *et al.* (2015) showed that 4CL1, 4CL2 and 4CL3 are all involved in p-coumaryl-CoA biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis*, but the product produced by the first two directed to lignin biosynthesis, while 4CL3 products are used to synthesize flavonoids. Likewise, only 4CL1 gene mutants showed reduced lignin content in the study in which three 4CL genes were editied by CRISPR methods (Zhou *et al.*, 2015).

In poplar, Van Acker *et al.* (2017) reported that, only CAD1 gene deficiency resulted in modified lignin content and structure. The results of Huang *et al.* (2010) showed 25% reduction in lignin content by using mutants for all PAL genes in *Arabidopsis*. In poplar, PAL isozymes are encoded by a small gene family with five genes (Tuskan *et al.*, 2006; Shi *et al.*, 2010, 2013). An interesting study conducted by Wang *et al.* (2015) showed that severe reductions in the abundance of PAL, 4CL, and CAD enzymes are required to affect lignin deposition in *P. trichocarpa*. Similar to our results, the reductions in PAL and 4CL proteins did not show any effect on lignin content unless their abundances were below 10% in wild type plants. For the CAD enzyme, the reduction below to 50% in transgenic lines caused to decreases in lignin content and increases in S/G ratio (Wang *et al.*, 2015). Contrary to the results obtained for the relationship between lignin content and phenylpropanoid pathway enzymes, cellulose content and SuSy activity ( $r_p = 0.184$ ) and also cellulose content with UGPase activity ( $r_p = 0.160$ ) showed positive phenotypic relationships. Negative phenotypic correlations were detected between UGPase and PAL, 4CL and CAD activities. These results can be evaluated as a competition for carbon allocation to cellulose and hemicellulose versus lignin because during the formation of cell wall, these polymers appears as the major carbon sinks (Sjostrom, 1993; Novaes *et al.*, 2010; Taşkıran, 2014).

Alternatively, glycosylation is a common process used in plant cells to stabilize highly toxic monolignols and it requires extra amount of carbon source (Anterola, 2002). As noted before, lignin content appears as a mechanical barrier to protect the cell and its accumulation increases during biotic and abiotic stress whereas an increase in diameter generally appears as an indicator of normal plant growth. The only way to compensate this carbon source requirement is shifting the carbon partitioning through lignin production as a normal consequence of photoassimilate partition (Winter and Huber, 2000; Koch, 2004; Coleman *et al.*, 2009; Zhou *et al.*, 2016; Stein and Granot, 2019). Slightly positive phenotypic correlations between cellulose content and SuSy activity and also between cellulose and UGPase activity agree with the results of Coleman *et al.* (2010) in which cellulose contents of the cells were increasing with UGPase and SUSY transgenic lines, though the overall impact was low. Similarly, Gerber *et al.* (2014) suggested that SuSy plays a role in total carbon allocation in wood cells, but it is not essentially needed for cellulose biosynthesis.

Generally, genetic correlations and phenotypic correlations for certain traits did not show similar results with respect to magnitude and sign. For example, in our study there was no phenotypic correlation observed between SuSy and UGPase activities, while their genetic correlation was estimated as  $r_g = -0.336$ . Even though they utilize UDP-glucose as subtrate, the preferred directions of reactions are not the same. According to our results, more than five times higher SuSy activity was observed compared to UGPase activity. SuSy as a bidirectional enzyme has a poor K<sub>m</sub> for sucrose (10-400 mmol/L) and cleaves sucrose at very high concentration to produce UDP-glucose for cellulose deposition. In its synthesis direction, it uses the same UDP-glucose pool as substrate like UGPase enzyme. Both SuSy and UGPase enzymes from *Arabidopsis* were reported with the same K<sub>m</sub> values for UDP-glucose (0.05 mmol/L) in different studies (Meng *et al.*, 2008; Almagro *et al.*, 2012). These close substrate affinities may cause competition for the source. However, the regulations of various substrate pools in the source and sink tissues by increasing and decreasing their concentrations may change the reaction direction's of both enzymes. In addition to this, it has been reported that (Schrader and Sauter, 2002) abundance of SuSY enzyme in wood tissues increase sharply in the beginning of summer compared to other cellulose related enzymes like UGPase and Sucrose phosphate synthase (SPS)

As a summary, even though comparing studies with different sampling strategies, sample size and methods is very difficult, we try to compare our results with related studies. Our results, enlighted the relationships among lignocellulosic traits in natural black poplar clonal populations and their effect to environmental and genetic interactions.

### 5.3. Lignocellulosic clones

The wide clonal (genotypic) variation, moderate to high heritability and significant phenotypic correlation and in some cases extreme genetic correlations present in the studied traits suggested a possible clonal level selection to determine the clones with lignocellulosic potential for future breeding applications and industrial plantations. Therefore, the clones with the highest and the lowest values of cellulose and lignin contents were separately evaluated. One of the most remarkable results of this analysis was observation of increase in correlations between paired traits with top 50 clones with high lignocellulosic values. For instance, UGPase and cellulose content correlation increased from  $r_p = 0.160$  to  $r_p = 0.264$ . Similarly, cellulose content and

diameter relationship was also increased to  $r_p = 0.462$ . Similar type of increases in correlation coefficients were also detected between other lignocellulosic traits.

Therefore, we decided to evaluate the highest twelve clones for each trait and also some specific clones with particularly high mean values for more than one trait. For example, the clone 62160 which was among the highest twenty clones in terms of UGPase, SuSy, cellulose content, height and diameter, but also it was among the lowest 12 clones with respect to PAL and CAD activities. Moreover, it showed the characteristics of lowest clones with its low lignin content. Similarly, N90102 took our attention not only by its high SuSy activity, cellulose content and diameter, but also with low lignin content.

Moreover, clones labeled as N91120, N92217, and N033681 were among the highest 50 clones with respect to PAL, 4CL, and CAD activities. Previously, N033681was reported as drought resistant clone and observed with highly significant up-regulated PAL gene expressions (Yıldırım, 2013). Also, clone N92160 which had the highest lignin content and N91068 which was among the highest 12 with its PAL activity were reported with the highest leaf abscission and least growth under drought conditions (Yıldırım, 2013). Again, in the same study, commercially registered clone Anadolu (the highest 7<sup>th</sup> Clone in terms of PAL activity in our study) was also reported with highly up-regulated PAL gene expression. In the same manner, N92179 which was the highest 3<sup>rd</sup> clones with its SuSy activity in our study was reported as cold resistant clones in a previous study (Zeybek, 2014).

The same clones mentioned above were also selected as extraordinary clones based on their mean cellulose, lignin contents and growth values in our previous study (Taşkıran, 2014). As we stated earlier, till now only seven European black poplar clones were registered commercially in Turkey by International Poplar Commission and they showed moderately high lignocellulosic potential in the current study. Therefore, selecting the superior clones in terms of lignocellulosic traits might be considered as an advantageous and useful approach to establish a new black poplar breeding programme by molecular markers assisted tools to increase wood quality and biomass yield efficiency. In many poplar and willow breeding programmes, molecular marker-based selections were used widely in addition to phenotypic selection, especially for wood related traits (Wegrzyn *et al.*, 2010; Porth *et al.*, 2013b; Guerra *et al.*, 2013; Schilling *et al.*, 2014; McKown *et al.*, 2014; He *et al.*, 2014; Allwright and Taylor, 2016; Zhou *et al.*, 2018).

Since the establishment of Behiçbey European black poplar clone bank, genetic diversity of these clones was determined by SSR markers and their drought and cold resistance were examined by numerous biochemical, physiological, and microarray studies as part of a moleculer black poplar breeding program supported by TUBITAK. (Zeybek, 2014; Ciftçi *et al.* 2017; Yıldırım and Kaya, 2017). Furthermore, their cellulose, lignin and glucose contents and also growth traits like diameter and height have been screened already (Taşkıran, 2014). By the contribution of the current study, their lignocellulosic potentials were also evaluated by the help of the activities of the enzymes of the important metabolic pathways.

Based on the results of all these previous studies, it is possible to identify new European black poplar clones to be register as a commercial clone suitable to different geographic regions of Turkey. However, these potential clones need to be subjected to field trials in different geographical regions of Turkey, regarding availability of the potential plantation sites.

# **CHAPTER 6**

## CONCLUSION

European black poplar is one of the most promising woody biomass crops and it has a great potential for lignocellulosic bioenergy production. It is not only ecologically, but also an economically important riparian zone fast-growing tree.

According to literature, the current study is the most comprehensive study conducted by biochemical and physiological approaches to examine natural genetic variation of lignocellulosic traits, their heritabilities and relationship of among these traits. Our sampling strategy and experimental design allowed us to determine the contribution of various factors to total variance of the studied traits. Not surprisingly, we did not observe any significant ramet and replications effects in our study. As expected, we concluded that the great portion of total phenotypic variation was caused by clonal variation (33.0% to 64.1%) which displayed the diverse genetic background of the clone bank for the studied traits.

In our study, moderate to high clonal heritabilities, ranging 0.50 (in UGPase) to 0.80 (in glucose) were estimated for lignocellulosic traits. Except for PAL activity, all lignin related traits and UGPase ativity displayed moderate heritability (0.50 - 0.57). However, high heritability estimates were found for PAL (0.61), cellulose (0.75) and SuSy (0.71) traits. These results clearly showed that lignin related traits were more susceptible to environmental factors than cellulose content and SuSy. Similar to our findings, various previous studies reported effects of environmental factors on lignin contents of poplar woods.

Contrary to our expectations, we could not detect any correlation between lignin content and the related pathway enzymes. Although PAL, 4CL and CAD were positively correlated with each other, and negatively correlated with UGPase enzyme, it was observed that they may not be related to lignin content or, more complicated regulations in the pathway were taking place. The positive correlation among phenylpropanoid pathway enzymes clearly demonstrated the flux of the substrate into the pathway and the negative correlation with UGPase also showed competition for the same carbon source. Moreover, the positive relationship was detected between cellulose content and SuSy ( $r_p = 0.184$ ) and UGPase ( $r_p = 0.160$ ) activities. These correlation coefficients highly increased with the clones having maximum activities with respect to high cellulose and low lignin contents.

Moreover, the results with the highest mean values of clones aided us to select superior lignocellulosic clones for future studies. According to these results, various clones like 62160 were detected with specific mean values for more than one trait. This clone was among the highest twelve clones regarding UGPase, SuSy, cellulose, height, and diameter, but it was also among the lowest twelve clones with respect to PAL and CAD activities. Similarly, some clones like N033861 and N92160 with highest lignin related enzyme activities, were previously reported as drought and cold resistant clones with up-regulated gene expressions. Commercially registered clones (Anadolu, Ata, Gazi, Geyve, Kocabey, Çubuk 1, and Çubuk 2) showed moderate lignocellulosic potentials with respect to those clones determined in this study.

The results of this study indicated that, all lignocellulosic and wood related traits studied here show natural genetic variations. By selecting the lignocellulosic clones, new breeding and conservation programmes can be developed by using molecular markers assisted tools. The results of this study pave the way to perform clonal level selection. By combining several approaches, we are ready to select and register new commercial clones to increase biomass yield efficiency. In our study S/G lignin ratio, hemicellulose and xylose contents were not studied. Since most of the recent transgenic mutant studies for these enzymes reported with structural changes in lignin composition rather than lignin content, it would be very beneficial to study these traits to clarify relationship between studied lignin and related traits.

#### REFERENCES

- Abe T, Niiyama H, Sasahara T (2002) Cloning of cDNA for UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase and the expression of mRNA in rice endosperm. *Theor Appl Genet* 105:216–221
- Allina, S.M., Pri-Hadash, A., Theilmann, D. A., Ellis, B. E., & Douglas, C. J. (1998). 4-Coumarate: coenzyme A ligase in hybrid poplar. Properties of native enzymes, cDNA cloning, and analysis of recombinant enzymes. *Plant physiology*, *116*(2), 743–754.
- Allwright, M. R., & Taylor, G. (2016). Molecular Breeding for Improved Second Generation Bioenergy Crops. *Trends in Plant Science*. Elsevier Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2015.10.002</u>
- Almagro, G., Baroja-Fernández, E., Muñoz, F. J., Bahaji, A., Etxeberria, E., Li, J. Pozueta-Romero, J. (2012). No evidence for the occurrence of substrate inhibition of *Arabidopsis thaliana* sucrose synthase-1 (AtSUS1) by fructose and UDP-glucose. *Plant signaling & behavior*, 7(7), 799–802. doi:10.4161/psb.20601
- An, X., Chen, Z., Wang, J., Ye, M., Ji, L., Wang, J. (2014). Identification and characterization of the *Populus* sucrose synthase gene family. *Gene* 539, 58–67. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2014.01.062
- Anterola, A.M., Lewis, N.G. (2002). Trends in lignin modification: a comprehensive analysis of the effects of genetic manipulations/mutations on lignification and vascular integrity. *Phytochemistry* Oct; 61(3): 221-94.
- Appert, C., Logemann, E., Hahlbrock, K., Schmid, J., Amrhein, N. (1994). "Structural and catalytic properties of the four phenylalanine ammonia-lyase isoenzymes from parsley (*Petroselinum crispum* Nym.)". *European Journal of Biochemistry*. 225 (1): 491–9.
- Babst, B.A., Harding, S.A., Tsai, C.J., (2010). Biosynthesis of phenolic glycosides from phenylpropanoid and benzenoid precursors in *Populus*. J. Chem. Ecol. 36, 286–297
- Balan, D., Tokas, J., & Singal, H. R. (2018). UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase: Isolation, purification and characterization from developing thermotolerant wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) grains. *Protein Expression and Purification*, 148, 68–77.
- Barakat, A., Bagniewska-Zadworna, A., Plakkat, U., Choi, A., DiLoreto, D., Carlson, J. (2009). The Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase genes family in *Populus*: Genome organization, phylogeny, and expression. *BMC Plant Biol*, 9:26
- Barakat, A., Bagniewska-Zadworna, A., Frost, C. J., & Carlson, J. E. (2010). Phylogeny and expression profiling of CAD and CAD-like genes in hybrid *Populus (P. deltoides × P. nigra)*: Evidence from herbivore damage for

subfunctionalization and functional divergence. *BMC Plant Biology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-10-100

- Barnes, W.J. and Anderson, C.T. (2018). Cytosolic invertases contribute to cellulose biosynthesis and influence carbon partitioning in seedlings of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant J*. 94, 956-974.
- Baroja-Fernández, E., Muñoz, F. J., Li, J., Bahaji, A., Almagro, G., Montero, M., Pozueta-Romero, J. (2012). Sucrose synthase activity in the sus1/sus2/sus3/sus4 Arabidopsis mutant is sufficient to support normal cellulose and starch production. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(1), 321–326.
- Barratt, D.H.; Barber, L.; Kruger, N.J.; Smith, A.M.; Wang, T.L.; Martin, C. (2001). Multiple, distinct isoforms of sucrose synthase in pea. *Plant Physiol*. 127, 655–664.
- Barratt, D. H. P., Derbyshire, P., Findlay, K., Pike, M., Wellner, N., Lunn, J., Smith, A. M. (2009). Normal growth of Arabidopsis requires cytosolic invertase but not sucrose synthase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(31), 13124–13129.
- Barros J, Serk H, Granlund I, Pesquet E (2015) The cell biology of lignification in higher plants. Ann Bot 115: 1053–1074
- Barsoum, N., Muller, E., Skot, L. (2004). Variations in levels of clonality among *Populus nigra* L. stands of different ages. *Evol Ecol* 18: 601–624
- Baud, S., Vaultier, M. N., and Rochat, C. (2004). Structure and expression profile of the sucrose synthase multigene family in *Arabidopsis*. J. Exp. Bot. 55, 397–409. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erh047
- Becker, M., Vincent, C. and Reid, J.S.G. (1995). Biosynthesis of (1,3) (1,4) β-glucan and (1,3) β-glucan in barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) properties of the membranebound glucan synthases. *Planta* 195: 331–338.
- Bhuiyan, N.H., Selvaraj, G., Wei, Y., King, J., (2009). Role of lignification in plant defense. *Plant Signal Behav 4:* 158–159
- Bieniawska, Z, Barratt, DHP, Garlick, AP, Thole, V, Kruger, NJ, Martin, C, Zrenner, R, Smith, AM (2007). Analysis of the sucrose synthase gene family in Arabidopsis. *Plant J* 49:810–828
- Birler, AS (2010). Türkiye'de kavak yetiştirme, Fidanlık Ağaçlandırma Koruma Hasılat Ekonomi Odun özellikleri. T.C. Çevre ve Orman Bakanlığı Yayın No: 393 Araştırma Müdürlüğü Yayın No: 262
- Boeckler, G.A., Gershenzon, J., Unsicker, S.B., (2011). Phenolic glycosides of the Salicaceae and their role as anti-herbivore defenses. *Phytochemistry* 72, 1497–1509.
- Boerjan, W., Ralph, J., Baucher, M. (2003). Lignin biosynthesis. *Annu Rev Plant Biol* 54: 519–546 doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.54.031902.134938

- Bonawitz, N.D., Chapple, C. (2010). The genetics of lignin biosynthesis: connecting genotype to phenotype. *Annu Rev Genet* 44: 337–363
- Borokov, A.Y., McClean, P.E., Sowokinos, J.R., Ruud, S.H., Secor, G.A. (1996). Effect of expression of UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase ribozyme and antisense RNAs on the enzyme activity and carbohydrate composition of fieldgrown transgenic potato plants. *J Plant Physiol* 147:644–652
- Bradford MM (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal. Biochem. 72 248-254
- Brown, C., Leijon, F., Bulone, V. (2012). Radiometric and spectrophotometric *in vitro* assays of glycosyl- transferases involved in plant cell wall carbohydrate biosynthesis. *Nat. Protoc.* 7:1634–50
- Brunner, A. M., Busov, V. B., & Strauss, S. H. (2004). Poplar genome sequence: Functional genomics in an ecologically dominant plant species. *Trends in Plant Science*. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2003.11.006
- Cabane M, Pireaux JC, Leger E, Weber E, Dizengremel P, Pollet B, Lapierre C (2004) Condensed lignins are synthesized in poplar leaves exposed to ozone. Plant Physiol. 134, 586–594.
- Camm, E.L., Towers, G. (1973). "Phenylalanine ammonia lyase". *Phytochemistry*. 12 (5): 961–973.
- Campbell, M.M., Sederoff, R.R. (1996). Variation in lignin content and composition. *Plant Physiol* 110:3–13
- Carlson, C. H., Gouker, F. E., Crowell, C. R., Evans, L., DiFazio, S. P., Smart, C. D., & Smart, L. B. (2019). Joint linkage and association mapping of complex traits in shrub willow (*Salix purpurea L.*). *Annals of Botany*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcz047
- Carlson, S.J., and Chourey, P. S. (1996). Evidence for plasma membrane-associated forms of sucrose synthase in maize. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 252, 303–310. doi: 10.1007/ BF02173776
- Carpita, N., McCann, M. (2000). Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Plants, eds Buchanan BB, Gruissem W, Jones RL (Amer Soc Plant Physiol, Rockville, MD), pp 52–108.
- Carroll, A., Somerville, C. (2009). Cellulosic biofuels. Annu Rev Plant Biol. 60:165-182.
- Chen, F., Dixon, R.A. (2007). Lignin modification improves fermentable sugar yields for biofuel production. *Nat Biotechnol 25:* 759–761.
- Chen, H.C., Song, J., Williams, C.M., Shuford, C.M., Liu, J., Wang, J.P., Li, Q., Shi, R., Gokce, E., Ducoste, J. (2013). Monolignol pathway 4-coumaric acid: CoA

ligases in *Populus trichocarpa*: novel specificity, metabolic regulation, and simulation of CoA ligation fluxes. *Plant Physiol*. 161:1501–1516.

- Chen, H.C., Song, J., Wang, J.P., Lin, Y.C., Ducoste, J., Shuford, C.M., Chiang, V.L. (2014). Systems biology of lignin biosynthesis in *Populus trichocarpa*: heteromeric 4-coumaric acid: coenzyme A ligase protein complex formation, regulation, and numerical modeling. *The Plant cell*, 26(3), 876–893. doi:10.1105/tpc.113.119685
- Ciereszko, I., Johansson, H., Hurry, V., Kleczkowski, L.A. (2001). Phosphate status affects the gene expression, protein content and enzymatic activity of UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase in wild-type and pho mutants of *Arabidopsis*. *Planta* 212: 598–605
- Ciftci, A., Karatay, H., Kücükosmanoğlu, F., Karahan, A., & Kaya, Z. (2017). Genetic differentiation between clone collections and natural populations of European black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) in Turkey. *Tree Genetics and Genomes*, 13:69 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11295-017-1154-8
- Ciftci, A., & Kaya, Z. (2019). Genetic diversity and structure of *Populus nigra* L. populations in two highly fragmented river ecosystems from Turkey. *Tree Genetics and Genomes*, 15(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11295-019-1370-5</u>
- Clifton-Brown, J., Harfouche, A., Casler, M. D., Dylan Jones, H., Macalpine, W. J., Murphy-Bokern, D., Lewandowski, I. (2019). Breeding progress and preparedness for mass-scale deployment of perennial lignocellulosic biomass crops switchgrass, miscanthus, willow and poplar. *GCB Bioenergy*, 11(1), 118– 151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12566</u>
- Cochrane, F.C., Davin, L.B., Lewis, N.G., (2004). The Arabidopsis phenylalanine ammonia lyase gene family: kinetic characterization of the four PAL isoforms. *Phytochemistry* 65, 1557–1564.
- Coleman, H.D., Park, J., Nair, R., Chapple, C., Mansfield, S.D. (2008). RNAimediated suppression of p-coumaroyl-CoA 3-hydroxylase in hybrid poplar impacts lignin deposition and soluble secondary metabolism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 105, 4501–4506.
- Coleman, H.D., Yan, J., & Mansfield, S.D. (2009). Sucrose synthase affects carbon partitioning to increase cellulose production and altered cell wall ultrastructure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *106*(31), 13118–13123.
- Coleman, H.D., Beamish, L., Reid, A., Park, J.Y., & Mansfield, S.D. (2010). Altered sucrose metabolism impacts plant biomass production and flower development. *Transgenic Research*, 19(2), 269–283.
- Cronk, Q.C.B., (2005). The potential of poplar as a model organism. *New Phytol.* 166, 39–48.

- Çoban, S., Willner, W. (2019). Numerical classification of the forest vegetation in the Western Euxine Region of Turkey. *Phytocoenologia*. 71-106 DOI: 10.1127/phyto/2018/0274
- Davis, J.M. (2008). Genetic Improvement of Poplar (*Populus* spp.) as a Bioenergy Crop. In: Vermerris W, ed. *Genetic improvement of bioenergy crops*. New York, NY, USA: Springer, 397–419.
- Davison, B., Drescher, S., Tuskan, G., Davis, M., Nghiem, N. (2006). Variation of S/G ratio and lignin content in a Populus family influences the release of xylose by dilute acid hydrolysis. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology* 130: 427– 435.
- Dejardin A., Laurans F., Arnaud D., Breton C., Pilate G., and Leple J. C. (2010) Wood formation in Angiosperms. *Cr. Biol.* 333: 325–334.
- De Jong, F., Hanley, S.J., Beale, M.H., & Karp, A. (2015). Characterisation of the willow phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) gene family reveals expression differences compared with poplar. *Phytochemistry*, 117, 90–97.
- Delmer, D.P., Haigler, C.H. (2002). The regulation of metabolic flux to cellulose, a major sink for carbon in plants. *Metabolic Engineering*, 4, 22–28.
- Demura, T. and H. Fukuda. 2007. Transcriptional regulation in wood formation. *Trends in Plant Science* 12:64–70.
- Dence, C. (1992). The determination of lignin. In: Lin S, Dence C, eds. *Methods in lignin chemistry*. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 33-62.
- Dinh, Q-D., Finkers, R., Westphal, A.H., van Dongen, WMAM., Visser, RGF., Trindade, LM (2018). Exploring natural genetic variation in tomato sucrose synthases on the basis of increased kinetic properties. *PLoS ONE* 13(10): e0206636. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206636
- Doğan, M. (2013). Türkiye sanayileşme sürecine genel bir bakış. *Marmara Coğrafya Derğisi* Sayı 28: 211-231
- Domozych, D.S., Ciancia, M, Fangel, J.U., Mikkelsen, M.D., Ulvskov, P., Willats, W.G. (2012). The cell walls of green algae: a journey through evolution and diversity. *Front. Plant Sci.* 3:82
- Duan, C., Yu, J., Bai, J., Zhu, Z., Wang, X. (2014). Induced defense responses in rice plants against small brown planthopper infestation. *Crop J.* 2, 55–62.
- Duncan K.A., Hardin S.C., Huber S.C. (2006). The three maize sucrose synthase isoforms differ in distribution, localization, and phosphorylation. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 47, 959–971.
- Eo, Mi & Fan, Huan & Cho, Yun & Kim, Soung & Lee, Suk. (2016). Cellulose membrane as a biomaterial: From hydrolysis to depolymerization with electron beam. *Biomaterials Research*. 20. 10.1186/s40824-016-0065-3.

- Eudes, A., Sathitsuksanoh, N., Baidoo, EEK, George, A., Liang, Y., Yang, F., Singh, S., Keasling, JD., Simmons, BA., Loque', D. (2015). Expression of a bacterial 3-dehydroshikimate dehydratase reduces lignin content and improves biomass saccharification efficiency. *Plant Biotechnol J.* http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ pbi.12310.
- EUFORGEN (2015) Distribution map of Black poplar (*Populus nigra*), www.euforgen.org. First published online in 2004 Updated on 13 January 2015
- Evans, L. M., Slavov, G. T., Rodgers-Melnick E., Martin J. (2014). Population genomics of *Populus trichocarpa* identifies signatures of selection and adaptive trait associations. *Nature Genet.* 46, 1089–1096.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2010). *Global forest* resources assessment 2010: Main report. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- FAO. (2016). Poplars and other fast-growing trees renewable resources for future green economies. Synthesis of Country Progress Reports. 25th Session of the International Poplar Commission, Berlin, Federal Republic of Germany, (September), 120. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/forestry/ipc2016/en/
- FAO. (2018). The State of the World's Forests 2018- Forest pathways to sustainable development. Rome.
- Fahrenkrog, AM., Neves, LG., Resende, MF. (2016). Genome-wide association study reveals putative regulators of bioenergy traits in *Populus* deltoides. *New Phytol* 213:799–811.
- Falconer, D. S. and T. F. C. Mackay (1996). Introduction to quantitative genetics. *Longman Group* Ltd., London, UK
- Faraji, M., Fonseca, L.L., Escamilla-Treviño, L. (2018) Mathematical models of lignin biosynthesis. *Biotechnol Biofuels* 11, 34 doi:10.1186/s13068-018-1028-9
- Fujii, S., Hayashi, T., & Mizuno, K. (2010). Sucrose synthase is an integral component of the cellulose synthesis machinery. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 51(2), 294– 301.
- Fujita, N., Tanaka, E., & Murata, M. (2006). Cinnamaldehyde inhibits phenylalanine ammonia-lyase and enzymatic browning of cut lettuce. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 70(3), 672–676.
- Fujita, M., Himmelspach, R., Ward, J., Whittington, A., Hasenbein, N., Liu, C., Truong, TT., Galway, ME., Mansfield, SD., Hocart, CH. (2013). The anisotropy1 D604N mutation in the Arabidopsis cellulose synthase1 catalytic domain reduces cell wall crystallinity and the velocity of cellulose synthase complexes. *Plant Physiol* 162:74-85.

- Furtado, A., Lupoi, J. S., Hoang, N. V., Healey, A., Singh, S., Simmons, B. A., & Henry, R. J. (2014). Modifying plants for biofuel and biomaterial production. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*. Volume 12, issue 9: 1246-1258
- Gaudet, M., Jorge, V., Paolucci, I. (2008). Genetic linkage maps of *Populus nigra* L. including AFLPs, SSRs, SNPs, and sex trait. *Tree Genet Genomes* 4:25–36.
- Geraldes, A., Difazio, S. P., Slavov, G. T., Ranjan, P. (2013). A 34K SNP genotyping array for *Populus trichocarpa*: Design, application to the study of natural populations and transferability to other *Populus* species. *Mol. Ecol. Resour.* 13, 306–323
- Geraldes, A., Hefer, CA., Capron, A. (2015). Recent Y chromosome divergence despite ancient origin of dioecy in poplars (*Populus*). *Mol Ecol* 24:3243–3256.
- Gerber, L., Zhang, B., Roach, M., Rende, U., Gorzsás, A., Kumar, M., Sundberg, B. (2014). Deficient sucrose synthase activity in developing wood does not specifically affect cellulose biosynthesis, but causes an overall decrease in cell wall polymers. *New Phytologist*, 203(4), 1220–1230.
- Goffner, Deborah & Joffroy, I. & Grima Pettenati, Jacqueline & Halpin, Claire & Knight, M. & Schuch, W. (1992). Purification and characterization of isoforms of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) from *Eucalyptus* xylem. *Planta*. 188. 48-53. 10.1007/BF01160711.
- Grimson, MJ., Haigler, CH., Blanton, RL. (1996). Cellulose microfibrils, cell motility, and plasma mem- brane protein organization change in parallel during culmination in *Dictyostelium discoideum*. J. Cell Sci. 109:3079–87
- Guerra, FP., Wegrzyn, JL., Sykes, R., Davis, MF., Stanton, BJ., Neale, DB. (2013). Association genetics of chemical wood properties in black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.). New Phytol 197:162–176.
- Hahlbrock, K., and Scheel, D. (1989). Physiology and molecular biology of phenylpropanoid metabolism. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 40: 347–369.
- Hao, Z., Avci, U., Tan, L., Zhu, X., Glushka, J. (2014). Loss of Arabidopsis GAUT12/IRX8 causes anther indehiscence and leads to reduced G lignin associated with altered matrix polysaccharide deposition. *Front Plant* http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00357/abstract.
- Harris, DM., Corbin, K., Wang, T., Gutierrez, R., Bertolo, AL., Petti, C., Smilgies, D-M., Manuel Estevez, J., Bonetta, D., Urbanowicz, BR. (2012). Cellulose microfibril crystallinity is reduced by mutating C- terminal transmembrane region residues CESA1(A903V) and CESA3(T942I) of cellulose synthase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A 109:4098-4103.
- He, J., Zhao, X., Laroche, A., Lu, Z. X., Liu, H., & Li, Z. (2014). Genotyping-bysequencing (GBS), an ultimate marker-assisted selection (MAS) tool to

accelerate plant breeding. *Frontiers in plant science*, 5, 484. doi:10.3389/fpls.2014.00484

- Hedge, J.E. and Hofreiter, B.T. (1962). *Carbohydrate Chemistry*, 17 (Eds). Whistler R.L. and Be Miller, J.N.), Academic Press, New York.
- Hirose, T., Scofield, G. N., and Terao, T. (2008). An expression analysis profile for the entire sucrose synthase gene family in rice. *Plant Sci.* 174, 534–543.
- Hu, Y., Li, W.C., Xu, Y.Q., Li, G.J., Liao, Y., Fu, F.L. (2009). Differential expression of candidate genes for lignin biosynthesis under drought stress in maize leaves. *J. Appl. Genet.* 50, 213–223.
- Huang, J., Gu, M., Lai, Z., Fan, B., Shi, K., Zhou, Y. H., ... Chen, Z. (2010). Functional analysis of the *Arabidopsis* PAL gene family in plant growth, development, and response to environmental stress. *Plant Physiology*, 153(4), 1526–1538. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.110.157370
- Ithal, N., Recknor, J., Nettleton, D., Maier, T., Baum, T.J., Mitchum, M.G. (2007). Developmental transcript profiling of cyst nematode feeding cells in soybean roots. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 20, 510–525.
- Jannoey, P., Pongprasert, W., Lumyong, S., Roytrakul, S., Nomura, M. (2015). Comparative proteomic analysis of two rice cultivars (*Oryza sativa* L.) contrasting in brown planthopper (BPH) stress resistance. *Plant Omics.* 8, 96– 105.
- Jensen, JK., Johnson, NR., Wilkerson, CG. (2014). *Arabidopsis thaliana* IRX10 and two related proteins from psyllium and *Physcomitrella patensare* xylan xylosyltransferases. *Plant J.* 80:207-215.
- Johnson, K. L., Gidley, M. J., Bacic, A., & Doblin, M. S. (2018). Cell wall biomechanics: a tractable challenge in manipulating plant cell walls 'fit for purpose' *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2017.08.013
- Joshi, C. P., Bhandari, S., Ranjan, P., Kalluri, U. C., Liang, X., Fujino, T., & Samuga, A. (2004). Genomics of cellulose biosynthesis in poplars. *New Phytologist*. 164:53-61
- Joshi, CP., Thammannagowda, S., Fujino, T., Gou, JQ., Avci, U., Haigler, CH., McDonnell, LM., Mansfield, SD., Mengesha, B., Carpita, NC. (2011). Perturbation of wood cellulose synthesis causes pleiotropic effects in transgenic aspen. *Mol Plant* 4:331-345. 63.
- Jung, J.H., Fouad, W.M., Vermerris, W., Gallo, M. and Altpeter, F. (2012). RNAi suppression of lignin biosynthesis in sugarcane reduces recalcitrance for biofuel production from lignocellulosic biomass. *Plant Biotechnol.* J. 10, 1067–1076.
- Karp, A., Shield, I., (2008). Bioenergy from plants and the sustainable yield challenge. *New Phytol.* 179, 15–32.

- Kavgacı, Ali & Yalçın, Erkan & Korkmaz, Hasan. (2015). Numerical classification and ordination of the floodplain forests in the Euxine region of Turkey. *Turkish Journal of Botany*. 39. 10.3906/bot-1504-31.
- Kaya, Z. and Temerit A. (1994): Genetic structure of marginally located *Pinus nigra var. pallasiana* populations in Central Turkey. Silvae Genetica 43: 272–277.
- Keating, J., Panganiban, C., Mansfield, S., (2006). Tolerance and adaptation of ethanologenic yeasts to lignocellulosic inhibitory compounds. *Biotechnol. Bioeng*. 93, 1196–1206.
- Keller, S. R., Soolanayakanahally, R. Y., Guy, R. D., Silim, S. N., Olson, M. S., & Tiffin, P. (2011). Climate-driven local adaptation of ecophysiology and phenology in balsam poplar, *Populus balsamifera* L. (*Salicaceae*). *American Journal of Botany*, 98(1), 99– 108. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1000317
- Kim SJ, Kim MR, Bedgar DL, Moinuddin SGA, Cardenas CL, Davin LB, Kang CL, Lewis NG. 2004. Functional reclassification of the putative cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase multigene family in *Arabidopsis*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, USA 101, 1455–1460. Kim
- Kim, Y. H., & Huh, G. H. (2019). Overexpression of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase gene from sweetpotato enhances oxidative stress tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology - Plant*, 55(2), 172– 179.
- Kimura, S., Ohshima, C., Hirose, E., Nishikawa, J., Itoh T. (2001). Cellulose in the house of the appendicularian *Oikopleura rufescens*. *Protoplasma* 216:71–74
- Kleczkowski, LA. (1994a). Glucose activation and metabolism through UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase in plants. *Phyto- chemistry* 37: 1507±1515
- Kleczkowski, L.A., Geisler, M., Ciereszko, I. and Johansson, H. (2004) UDP- glucose pyrophosphorylase an old protein with new tricks. *Plant Physiol*. 134, 912–918.
- Koch, K. (2004). Sucrose metabolism: Regulatory mechanisms and pivotal roles in sugar sensing and plant development. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 7:235–246.
- Kumar, M., Turner, S. (2015). Plant cellulose synthesis: CESA proteins crossing kingdoms. *Phytochemistry*. Volume 112: 91-99
- Kurt, F. and Filiz, E. (2019). Bioinformatical Analyses of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) proteins from higher plant species. *Bitlis Eren Üniversitesi Fen Bilimleri Dergisi*, 8 (1), 26-38. DOI: 10.17798/bitlisfen.462778
- Lavhale, S. G., Kalunke, R. M., & Giri, A. P. (2018). Structural, functional and evolutionary diversity of 4-coumarate-CoA ligase in plants. *Planta*. doi:10.1007/s00425-018-2965-z

- Lee, D., Meyer, K., Chapple, C., Douglas, C. (1997). Antisense suppression of 4coumarate: coenzyme A ligase activity in *Arabidopsis* leads to altered lignin subunit composition. *The Plant Cell* 9: 1985–1998.
- Lee, C., Teng, Q., Huang, W., Zhong, R. and Ye, Z.H. (2009). Down-regulation of PoGT47C expression in poplar results in a reduced glucuronoxylan content and an increased wood digestibility by cellulase. *Plant Cell Physiol*. 50, 1075–1089.
- Le Gall, H., Philippe, F., Domon, J-M., Gillet, F., Pelloux, J., Rayon, C. (2015) Cell wall metabolism in response to abiotic stress. *Plants* 4:112–166.
- Leplé, J.C., Dauwe, R., Morreel, K., Storme, V., Lapierre, C., Naumann, A., Kang, K.-Y., Kim, H., Ruel, K., Lef. bvre, A. (2007). Downregulation of cinnamoylcoenzyme A reductase in poplar: multiple-level phenotyping reveals effects on cell wall polymer metabolism and structure. *Plant Cell*, 19, 3669–3691.
- Levene, H. (1960). Robust tests for equality of variances. In I. Olkin (Ed.). *Contributions to probability and statistics* (pp. 278–292). Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Lewandowski, A. & Litkowiec, M. (2017). Genetic structure of the old black poplar population along the bank of the Vistula River in Poland. *Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae*, 86(1).
- Li, X., Weng, J.K., Chapple, C. (2008). Improvement of biomass through lignin modification. *Plant J* 54: 569–581.
- Li, Y., Kim, J. I., Pysh, L., & Chapple, C. (2015). Four Isoforms of Arabidopsis 4-Coumarate: CoA Ligase Have Overlapping Yet Distinct Roles in Phenylpropanoid Metabolism. *Plant physiology*, 169(4), 2409–2421.
- Lin, C.Y., Wang, J.P., Li, Q., Chen, H.C., Liu, J., Loziuk, P., Song, J., Williams, C., Muddiman, D.C., Sederoff, R.R., and Chiang, V.L. (2015). 4-Coumaroyl and Caffeoyl Shikimic Acids Inhibit 4- Coumaric Acid: Coenzyme A Ligases and Modulate Metabolic Flux for 3-Hydroxylation in Monolignol Biosynthesis of *Populus trichocarpa*. Mol. Plant. 8, 176–187.
- Littell, R.C., Milliken, G.A., Stroup, W.W., Wolfinger, R.D. (1996). SAS® system for mixed models. Cary, NC, USA: SAS Institute Inc.
- Liu, H., Guo, Z., Gu, F., Ke, S., Sun, D., Dong, S., Liu, W., Huang, M., Xiao, W., Yang, G. (2016). 4-Coumarate-CoA ligase-like gene OsAAE3 negatively mediates the rice blast resistance, floret development and lignin biosynthesis. *Front. Plant Sci.* 7, 2041.
- Liu, J., Ye, M., Zhu, S., Jiang, L., Sang, M., Gan, J. (2018). Two stage identification of SNP effects on dynamic poplar. *Plant J.* 93, 286–296. doi: 10.1111/tpj.13777
- Liu, Q., Luo, L., & Zheng, L. (2018). Lignins: Biosynthesis and biological functions in plants. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. MDPI AG. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19020335</u>

- Liu, X. Y., Wang, P. P., Wu, Y. F., Cheng, A. X., & Lou, H. X. (2018). Cloning and Functional Characterization of Two 4-Coumarate: CoA Ligase Genes from *Selaginella moellendorffii. Molecules (Switzerland)*, 23 (3), 595. doi:10.3390/molecules23030595
- Loqué, D., Scheller, H. V., & Pauly, M. (2015). Engineering of plant cell walls for enhanced biofuel production. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*. 25:151-161
- Ma, J., Wan, D., Duan, B., Bai, X., Bai, Q., Chen, N., & Ma, T. (2019). Genome sequence and genetic transformation of a widely distributed and cultivated poplar. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 17(2), 451–460.
- Mansfield, S.D., Kang, K.-Y., Chapple, C., (2012). Designed for deconstruction poplar trees altered in cell wall lignification improve the efficacy of bioethanol production. *New Phytol.* 194, 91–101.
- Mao, C., Yi, K., Yang, L., Zheng, B., Wu, Y., Liu, F., Wu, P. (2004). Identification of aluminium-regulated genes by cDNA-AFLP in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.): Aluminium-regulated genes for the metabolism of cell wall components. *J. Exp. Bot.* 55, 137–143.
- McFarlane, HE., Doring, A., Persson, S. (2014) The cell biology of cellulose synthesis. *Annu Rev Plant Biol* 65:69–94
- Mckown, A. D., Klápště, J., Guy, R. D., Geraldes, A., Porth, I., Hannemann, J., Douglas, C. J. (2014). Genome-wide association implicates numerous genes underlying ecological trait variation in natural populations of *Populus* trichocarpa. New Phytologist, 203(2), 535–553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12815</u>
- McNamara, J. T., Morgan, J. L. W., & Zimmer, J. (2015). A molecular description of cellulose biosynthesis. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 84(1), 895–921. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-060614-033930
- Meents, M.J., Watanabe, Y., and Samuels, A.L. (2018). The cell biology of secondary cell wall biosynthesis. *Ann. Bot.* 121, 1107-1125.
- Meng, M., Geisler, M., Johansson, H., Mellerowicz, E.J., Karpinski, S. and Kleczkowski, L.A. (2007). Differential tissue/organ-dependent expression of two sucrose- and cold-responsive genes for UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase in *Populus. Gene*, 389, 186–195.
- Meng, M., Wilczynska, M. and Kleczkowski, L.A. (2008). Molecular and kinetic characterization of two UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylases, products of distinct genes, from *Arabidopsis*. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1784, 967–972
- Meng, M., Geisler, M., Johansson, H., Harholt, J., Scheller, H.V., Mellerowicz, E.J. and Kleczkowski, L.A. (2009). UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase is not ratelimiting, but is essential in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell Physiol*. 50, 998–1011.

- Mellerowicz, EJ., Sundberg, B. (2008). Wood cell walls: biosynthesis, developmental dynamics and their implications for wood properties. *Curr Opin Plant Biol* 11(3):293–300
- Miedes, E., Vanholme, R., Boerjan, W., Molina, A. (2014). The role of the secondary cell wall in plant resistance to pathogens. *Front. Plant Sci.* 5, 358.
- Min, D., Li, Q., Jameel, H., Chiang, V. & Chang, H. M. (2012). The cellulasemediated saccharification on wood derived from transgenic low lignin lines of black cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*). *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 168, 947– 955
- Moore, JP., Vicré-Gibouin, M., Farrant, JM., Driouich, A. (2008). Adaptations of higher plant cell walls to water loss: drought vs desiccation. *Physiol Plant* 134:237–245.
- Mosier, N., Wyman, C., Dale, B., Elander, R. (2005). Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. *Bioresource Technol.* 96, 673–686.
- Moura, J.C.M.S., Bonine, C.A.V., Viana, J.D.O.F., Dornelas, M.C., Mazzafera, P. (2010). Abiotic and biotic stresses and changes in the lignin content and composition in plants. *J. Integr. Plant Biol.* 52, 360–376.
- Muchero, W., Guo, J., DiFazio, S. P., Chen, J.- G., Ranjan, P., Slavov, G. T., Tuskan, G. A. (2015). High- resolution genetic mapping of allelic variants associated with cell wall chemistry in *Populus*. *BMC Genomics*, 16, 24.
- Müller, M., Burghammer, M., Sugiyama, J. (2006). Direct investigation of the structural properties of tension wood cellulose microfibrils using microbeam Xray fibre diffraction. *Holzforschung* 60(5):474–479
- Nishiyama, Y., Langan, P., Chanzy, H. (2002). Crystal structure and hydrogenbonding system in cellulose 1β from synchrotron X-ray and neutron fiber diffraction. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 124:9074–82
- Nishiyama, Y., Sugiyama, J., Chanzy, H., Langan, P. (2003). Crystal structure and hydrogen bonding system in cellulose 1α from synchrotron X-ray and neutron fiber diffraction. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 125:14300–6
- Nishiyama, Y. (2009). Structure and properties of the cellulose microfibril. J. Wood Sci. 55, 241-249.
- Nobles, DR., Romanovicz, DK., Brown, RM. (2001). Cellulose in cyanobacteria. Origin of vascular plant cellulose synthase? *Plant Physiol*. 127:529–42
- Novaes, E., Osorio, L., Drost, D.R., Miles, B.L., Boaventura-Novaes, C.R., Benedict, C., Dervinis, C., Yu, Q., Sykes, R., Davis, M. (2009). Quantitative genetic analysis of biomass and wood chemistry of *Populus* under different nitrogen levels. *New Phytol* 182: 878–890.

- Park, JI., Ishimizu, T., Suwabe, K., Sudo, K., Masuko, H., Hakozaki, H., Nou, IS., Suzuki, G., Watanabe, M. (2010). UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase is rate limiting in vegetative and reproductive phases in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Cell Physiol* 51:981-996
- Park, Hye Lin & Kim, Tae & Bhoo, Seong & min hee, Han & Lee, Sang-Won & Cho, Man-Ho. (2018). Biochemical Characterization of the Rice Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase Gene Family. *Molecules*. 23. 2659. 10.3390/molecules23102659.
- Pauly, M., Keegstra, K. (2008). Cell-wall carbohydrates and their modification as a resource for biofuels. *Plant J* 54:559-568.
- Pawar, PMA., Schnurer, A., Mellerowicz, EJ., Rönnberg-Wästljung, AC. (2018). QTL mapping of wood FT-IR chemotypes shows promise for improving biofuel potential in short rotation coppice willow (*Salix spp.*). *BioEnergy Research* 11: 351–363.
- Persia, D., Cai, G., Del Casino, C., Faleri, C., Willemse, M. T., and Cresti, M. (2008). Sucrose synthase is associated with the cell wall of tobacco pollen tubes. *Plant Physiol.* 147, 1603–1618. doi: 10.1104/pp.108.115956
- Petersen, PD., Lau, J., Ebert, B., Yang, F., Verhertbruggen, Y., Kim, JS., Varanasi, P., Suttangkakul, A., Auer, M., Loque', D. (2012). Engineering of plants with improved properties as biofuels feedstocks by vessel-specific complementation of xylan biosynthesis mutants. *Biotechnol Biofuels* 2, 5.
- Plomion, C., Leprovost, G., Stokes, A. (2001). Wood formation in trees. *Plant Physiol* 127:1513–1523.
- Polko, J.K. & Kieber, J. J. (2019). The regulation of cellulose biosynthesis in plants. *Plant Cell*. American Society of Plant Biologists. 31:2: 282-296
- Porth, I., Klapste, J., Skyba, O., Lai, B. S. K. (2013a). *Populus trichocarpa* cell wall chemistry and ultrastructure trait variation, genetic control and genetic correlations. *New Phytol.* 197, 777–790.
- Porth, I., Klapšte, J., Skyba, O. (2013b). Genome-wide association mapping for wood characteristics in *Populus* identifies an array of candidate single nucleotide polymorphisms. *New Phytol* 200:710–726
- Porth, I. & El-Kassaby, Y. A. (2015). Using *Populus* as a lignocellulosic feedstock for bioethanol. *Biotechnology Journal*. Volume 10, 510- 524
- Rae, AM., Street, NR., Robinson, KM., Harris, N., Taylor, G. (2009). Five QTL hotspots for yield in short rotation coppice bioenergy poplar: the Poplar Biomass Loci. *BMC Plant Biology* 9: 23. doi: 10.1186/1471-2229-9-23.
- Ralph, J., Lundquist, K., Brunow, G., Lu, F., Kim, H., Schatz, P.F., Marita, J.M., Hatfield, R.D., Ralph, S.A., Christensen J.H. (2004). Lignins: Natural polymers

from oxidative coupling of 4-hydroxyphenyl-propanoids. *Phytochem.* Rev. 3, 29–60.

- Ranjan, P., Yin, T., Zhang, X., Kalluri, UC., Yang, X., Jawdy, S., Tuskan, GA. (2009). Bioinformatics-based identification of candidate genes from QTLs associated with cell wall traits in *Populus*. *BioEnergy Res* 3:172–182.
- Rao, G., Pan, X., Xu, F., Zhang, Y., Cao, S., Jiang, X., & Lu, H. (2015). Divergent and Overlapping Function of Five 4-Coumarate/Coenzyme A Ligases from *Populus tomentosa. Plant Molecular Biology Reporter*, 33(4), 841–854.
- Reichert, A.I., He, X.Z., Dixon, R.A., (2009). Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) from tobacco (Nicotiana tabacum L.): characterization of the four tobacco PAL genes and active heterotetrameric enzymes1. *Biochem. J.* 424, 233–242.
- Renner, SS. (2014). The relative and absolute frequencies of angiosperm sexual systems: dioecy, monoecy, gynodioecy, and an updated online database. *Am J Bot* 101:1588–1596. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1400196
- Richet, N., Afif, D., Huber, F., Pollet, B., Banvoy, J., El Zein, R., Cabané, M. (2011). Cellulose and lignin biosynthesis is altered by ozone in wood of hybrid poplar (*Populus tremula×alba*). Journal of Experimental Botany, 62(10), 3575–3586. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/err047
- Rojas, J., Bedoya, M., Ciro, Y. (2015). Current trends in the production of cellulose nanoparticles and nanocomposites for biomedical applications. In: Poletto M, Ornaghi HL. Editors. *Cellulose-Fundamental Aspects anc Current Trends*. Rijeka: InTech DOI: 10.5772/61334
- Römling, U. (2002). Molecular biology of cellulose production in bacteria. Res. *Microbiol.* 153:205–12
- Saballos, A., Ejeta, G., Sanchez, E., Kang, C., Vermerris, W. (2009). A genomewide analysis of the cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase family in Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) identifies SbCAD2 as the brown midrib6 gene. Genetics 181, 783-795
- Sannigrahi, P., Ragauskas, A. J., Tuskan, G. A., (2010). Poplar as a feedstock for biofuels: A review of compositional characteristics. *Biofuel Bio- prod. Bior.* 4, 209–226.
- Santiago, R., Barrosrios, J., Malvar, R.A. (2013). Impact of cell wall composition on maize resistance to pests and diseases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 6960–6980.
- Saxena, IM., Brown, RM. Jr (2005). Cellulose biosynthesis: current views and evolving concepts. *Ann Bot* 96(1):9–21
- Schilling, M. P., Wolf, P. G., Duffy, A. M., Rai, H. S., Rowe, C. A., Richardson, B. A., & Mock, K. E. (2014). Genotyping-by-sequencing for *Populus* population genomics: An assessment of genome sampling patterns and filtering approaches. *PLoS ONE*, 9(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095292

- Schmolzer, K., Gutmann, A., Diricks, M., Desmet, T., and Nidetzky, B. (2016). Sucrose synthase: a unique glycosyltransferase for biocatalytic glycosylation process development. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 34, 88–111. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv. 2015.11.003
- Schrader, S., & Sauter, J.J. (2002). Seasonal changes of sucrose-phosphate synthase and sucrose synthase activities in poplar wood (*Populus* x canadensis Moench robusta) and their possible role in carbohydrate metabolism. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 159(8), 833–843. https://doi.org/10.1078/0176-1617-00730
- Schuetz, M., Benske, A., Smith, R.A., Watanabe, Y., Tobimatsu, Y., Ralph, J., Demura, T., Ellis, B., Samuels, A.L. (2014). Laccases direct lignification in the discrete secondary cell wall domains of protoxylem. *Plant Physiol*. 166, 798– 807.
- Shapiro, SS., Wilk, MB. (1965). An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples). *Biometrika* 52: 591–611.
- Sharma, A., Shahzad, B., Rehman, A., Bhardwaj, R., Landi, M., & Zheng, B. (2019). Response of Phenylpropanoid Pathway and the Role of Polyphenols in Plants under Abiotic Stress. *Molecules (Switzerland)*, 24(13), 2452.
- Shi, R., Sun, YH., Li, Q., Heber, S., Sederoff, R., Chiang, VL. (2010). Towards a systems approach for lignin biosynthesis in *Populus trichocarpa*: transcript abundance and specificity of the mono- lignol biosynthetic genes. *Plant Cell Physiol* 51:144–163
- Shi, R., Shuford, C.M., Wang, J.P., Sun, Y.H., Yang, Z., Chen, H.C., Tunlaya-Anukit, S., Li, Q., Liu, J., Muddiman, D.C., Sederoff, R.R., Chiang, V.L., (2013). Regulation of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) gene family in wood forming tissue of *Populus trichocarpa*. *Planta* 238, 487–497.
- Shigeto, J., Ueda, Y., Sasaki, S., Fujita, K., & Tsutsumi, Y. (2017). Enzymatic activities for lignin monomer intermediates highlight the biosynthetic pathway of syringyl monomers in *Robinia pseudoacacia*. *Journal of Plant Research*, 130(1), 203–210.
- Sibout R, Eudes A, Pollet B, Goujon T, Mila I, Granier F, Seguin A, Lapierre C, Jouanin L. 2003. Expression pattern of two paralogs encoding cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenases in *Arabidopsis*. Isolation and characterization of the corresponding mutants. *Plant Physiology* 132, 848–860.
- Sibout, R., Eudes, A., Mouille, G., Pollet, B., Lapierre, C., Jouanin, L., Seguin, A. (2005). Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase-C and -D are the primary genes involved in lignin biosynthesis in the floral stem of *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 17, 2059-2076
- Šiler, B., Skorić, M., Mišić, D., Kocačević, B., Jelić, M., Patenković, A., & Novičić, Z. K. (2014). Variability of European Black Poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) in the Danube Basin, 128. Retrieved from citeulike-article-id:13526453

- Sims, R.E.H., Maiava, T.G., Bullock, B.T., (2001). Short rotation coppice tree species selection for woody biomass production in New Zealand. *Biomass Bioenergy* 20, 329–335.
- Sjostrom, E. (1993). *Wood chemistry, fundamentals and applications*. Orlando, USA: Academic Press
- Somerville, C. (2006). Cellulose synthesis in higher plants. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 22:53–78
- Stanton, BJ., Villar, M. (1996). Controlled reproduction of *Populus*. In: Stettler RF, Bradshaw HD, Heilman PE, Hinckley TM (eds) Biology of *Populus* and its implications for management and conservation. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, pp 113–138
- Stein, O. and Granot, D. (2019). An Overview of Sucrose Synthases in Plants. *Front. Plant Sci.* 10:95. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00095
- Stewart, J.J., Akiyama, T., Chapple, C., Ralph, J., Mansfield, S.D. (2009). The effects on lignin structure of overexpression of ferulate 5-hydroxylase in hybrid poplar. *Plant Physiol 150*: 621–635
- Sticklen, MB. (2008). Plant genetic engineering for biofuel production: towards affordable cellulosic ethanol. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 9: 433–443.
- Studer, MH., DeMartini, JD., Davis, MF., Sykes, RW., Davison, B., Keller, M., Tuskan, GA., Wyman, CE. (2011). Lignin content in natural *Populus* variants affects sugar release. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A 108:6300-6305.
- Takahashi-Schmidt, J. (2008). Functional studies of selected extracellular carbohydrate-active hydrolases in wood formation. *Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae*. Umeå, Sweden: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- TAPPI Standard (1991). T250 um-91. Acid-soluble lignin in wood and pulp. Technical Association of the Pulp and Paper Industry, Atlanta, GA, USA.
- Taşkıran, B. (2014). Genetic control of cellulose, lignin, and glucose contents in European black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) populations from Turkey.*Middle East Technical University*, Dept. of Biological Sciences, M.Sc. Thesis, Ankara/ Turkey.
- Tong, X. lei, Wang Z. yang, Ma, B. quan, Zhang, C. xia, Zhu, L. cheng, Ma, F. Wang, & Li, M. jun. (2018). Structure and expression analysis of the sucrose synthase gene family in apple. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, 17(4), 847–856.
- Toplu, F., Kucukosmanoglu, F. (2003). Two natural distributions of *Populus nigra* L. discovered in Turkey. *Journal of Poplar and Fast–Growing Forest Trees Research Institute*, 29: 23–32.
- Toplu, F. (2005). Breeding and conservation of black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) gene resources in Turkey. *Unasylva* 221(56):26–30
- Tronche, M., BalaguÉ, C., Kroj, T., Jouanin, L., & Roby, D. (2010). Cinnamyl alcohol Dehydrogenases-C and D, key enzymes in lignin biosynthesis, play an essential role in disease resistance in Arabidopsis. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 11(1), 83– 92.
- Tsai, C.J., Harding, S.A., Tschaplinski, T.J., Lindroth, R.L., Yuan, Y., (2006). Genome wide analysis of the structural genes regulating defense phenylpropanoid metabolism in *Populus*. *New Phytol*. 172, 47–62
- Tuskan, GA., Difazio, S., Jansson, S., Bohlmann, J., Grigoriev, I., Hellsten, U., Putnam, N., Ralph, S., Rombauts, S., Salamov, A. (2006). The genome of black cottonwood, *Populus trichocarpa* (Torr. & Gray). *Science* 313:1596–1604
- Tuskan, G. A., Groover, A. T., Schmutz, J., DiFazio, S. P., Myburg, A., Grattapaglia, D., Michener, J. K. (2018). Hardwood tree genomics: Unlocking woody plant biology. *Frontiers in Plant Science*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01799
- Uppdegraf, D.M. (1969). Semimicro determination of cellulose in biological materials. *Analytical Biochemistry* 32,420-424
- Vanden Broeck, A. (2003). EUFORGEN technical guidelines for genetic conservation and use for European black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.). Rome: International Plant Genetic Resources Institute.
- Van Acker, R., Déjardin, A., Desmet, S., Hoengenaert, L., Vanholme, R., Morreel, K., Laurans, F., Kim, H., Santoro, N., Foster, C. (2017). Different metabolic routes for coniferaldehyde and sinapaldehyde with Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase1 deficiency. *Plant Physiol.* 175, 1018–1039.
- Vanholme, R., Morreel, K., Ralph, J., Boerjan, W. (2008). Lignin engineering. Curr Opin *Plant Biol* 11:278-285.
- Vanholme, R., Demedts, B., Morreel, K., Ralph, J., Boerjan, W. (2010). Lignin biosynthesis and structure. *Plant Physiol* 153: 895–905
- Vanholme, R., De Meester, B., Ralph, J., & Boerjan, W. (2019). Lignin biosynthesis and its integration into metabolism. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*. Elsevier Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2019.02.018</u>
- Velioğlu, E., Akgül, S., 2016. Poplars and Willows in Turkey: Country Progress Report of the National Poplar Commision. Time period: 2012-2015, Poplar and Fast-Growing Forest Trees Research Institute, İzmit/Turkey
- Vermerris, W., Nicholson, R. (2006). Phenolic compound biochemistry. *Springer*, Berlin, pp 107–108
- Voelker, SL., Lachenbruch, B., Meinzer, FC. (2010). Antisense down- regulation of 4CL expression alters lignification, tree growth, and saccharification potential of field-grown poplar. *Plant Physiol* 154: 874–886.

- Voelker, S. L., Lachenbruch, B., Meinzer, F. C., Kitin, P., & Strauss, S. H. (2011). Transgenic poplars with reduced lignin show impaired xylem conductivity, growth efficiency and survival. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 34(4), 655–668. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2010.02270.x
- Vogt, T., (2010). Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis. Mol. Plant 3, 2-20.
- Wang, H-Z., Dixon, RA. (2011). On-offswitches for secondary cell wall biosynthesis. Molecular Plant 5: 297–303.
- Wang, Y., Chantreau, M., Sibout, R., Howkins, S. (2013). Plant cell wall lignification and monolignol metabolism. *Front Plant Sci* 4: 220
- Wang, J.P., Naik, P.P., Chen, H.C., Shi, R., Lin, C.Y., Liu, J., Shuford, C.M., Li, Q., Sun, Y.H., Tunlaya-Anukit, S., Williams, C.M., Muddiman, D.C., Ducoste, J.J., Sederoff, R.R., Chiang, V.L., (2014). Complete proteomic-based enzyme reaction and inhibition kinetics reveal how monolignol biosynthetic enzyme families affect metabolic flux and lignin in *Populus trichocarpa*. Plant Cell 26, 894–914.
- Wang, Y., Fan, C., Hu, H., Li, Y., Sun, D., Wang, Y., & Peng, L. (2016). Genetic modification of plant cell walls to enhance biomass yield and biofuel production in bioenergy crops. *Biotechnology Advances*. Vol 34: Issue 5: 997-1017
- Wang, J. P., Matthews, M. L., Williams, C. M., Shi, R., Yang, C., Tunlaya-Anukit, S., Chiang, V. L. (2018). Improving wood properties for wood utilization through multiomics integration in lignin biosynthesis. *Nature Communications*, 9(1): 1579.
- Website of European Forest Genetic Resources Program available at http://www.euforgen.org/species/Populus-nigra/. Last access date December, (2019).
- Wegrzyn, J.L., Eckert, A. J., Choi, M., Lee, J. M. (2010). Association genetics of traits controlling lignin and cellulose biosynthesis in black cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) secondary xylem. *New Phytol.* 188, 515–532.
- Weih, M., Polle, A. (2016). Editorial: ecological consequences of biodiversity and biotechnology in agriculture and forestry. *Front Plant Sci* 7: 210.
- Weng, J. K., Li, X., Bonawitz, N. D., Chapple, C. (2008). Emerging strategies of lignin engineering and degradation for cellulosic biofuel production. *Curr Opin Biotechnol 19:* 66–172
- Wildhagen, H., Paul, S., Allwright, M., Smith, H. K., Malinowska, M., Schnabel, S. K., Polle, A. (2018). Genes and gene clusters related to genotype and drought-induced variation in saccharification potential, lignin content and wood anatomical traits in *Populus nigra* L. *Tree Physiology*, 38(3), 320–339.

- Winter, H., Huber, SC. (2000). Regulation of sucrose metabolism in higher plants: localization and regulation of activity of key enzymes. *Crit Rev Plant Sci* 19: 31–67
- Wullschleger, S. D., Weston, D. J., DiFazio, S. P., Tuskan, G. A., (2013) Revisiting the sequencing of the first tree genome: *Populus trichocarpa*. *Tree Physiol*. 33, 357–364.
- Xie, M., Zhang, J., Tschaplinski, TJ., Tuskan, GA., Chen, J-G. and Muchero, W. (2018). Regulation of Lignin Biosynthesis and Its Role in Growth-Defense Tradeoffs. *Front. Plant Sci.* 9:1427. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.01427
- Xi, W., Song, D., Sun, J., Shen, J., & Li, L. (2017). Formation of wood secondary cell wall may involve two type cellulose synthase complexes in *Populus*. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 93(4–5), 419–429.
- Yang, B. & Wyman, C. E. (2008). Pretreatment: the key to unlocking low-cost cellulosic ethanol. *Biofuel Bioprod. Biorefin.* 2,26–40
- Yang, Q., He, Y., Kabahuma, M., Chaya, T., Kelly, A., Borrego, E., Bian, Y., El, K.F., Yang, L., Teixeira, P. (2017). A gene encoding maize caffeoyl-CoA Omethyltransferase confers quantitative resistance to multiple pathogens. *Nat. Genet.*, 49, 1364–1372.
- Yıldırım, K. (2013) Transcriptional and physiological responses of black poplar to drought stress. PhD thesis METU, Ankara
- Yıldırım, K. & Kaya, Z. (2017). Gene regulation network behind drought escape, avoidance and tolerance strategies in black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.). *Plant physiology and biochemistry:* PPB. 115. 10.1016/j.plaphy.2017.03.020.
- Yi Li, Jeong Im Kim, Len Pysh, Clint Chapple (2015). Four isoforms of *Arabidopsis* 4-Coumarate: CoA ligase have overlapping yet distinct roles in phenylpropanoid metabolism. *Plant Physiology*, 169 (4) 2409-2421
- Yoon, Jinmi & Choi, Heebak & An, Gynheung. (2015). Roles of lignin biosynthesis and regulatory genes in plant development. *Journal of integrative plant biology*. 57. 10.1111/jipb.12422.
- Zeybek, E. (2014). Differential Expression of Cold Resistant Related Genes in Populus nigra L. Clones, Middle East Technical University, Department of Biotechnology, Ph.D. Thesis, Ankara/Turkey.
- Zhang, S., Yang, Q., Ma, R. (2007). *Erwinia carotovora* ssp. *carotovora* infection induced "defense lignin" accumulation and lignin biosynthetic gene expression in chinese cabbage (*Brassica rapa* L. ssp. *pekinensis*). *J. Integr. Plant Biol.* 49, 993–1002
- Zhang, G., Qi, J., Xu, J., Niu, X., Zhang, Y., Tao, A., Zhang, L., Fang, P., Lin, L. (2013). Overexpression of UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase gene could increase

cellulose content in Jute (Corchorus capsularis L.). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 442:153-158.

- Zhou, R., Macaya-Sanz, D., Rodgers-Melnick, E., Carlson, C. H., Gouker, F. E., Evans, L. M., DiFazio, S. P. (2018). Characterization of a large sex determination region in *Salix purpurea* L. (Salicaceae). *Molecular Genetics and Genomics*, 293(6), 1437–1452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00438-018-1473-y
- Zhou, X. H., Jacobs, T. B., Xue, L. J., Harding, S. A., & Tsai, C. J. (2015). Exploiting SNPs for biallelic CRISPR mutations in the outcrossing woody perennial *Populus* reveals 4- coumarate: CoA ligase specificity and redundancy. *New Phytologist*, 208, 298–301.
- Zhu, B. H., Shi, H. P., Yang, G. P., Lv, N. N., Yang, M., & Pan, K. H. (2016). Silencing UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase gene in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* affects carbon allocation. *New Biotechnology*, 33(1), 237–244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2015.06.003</u>

# APPENDIX A

Clone Identity	Region	City
N.92.282	Aegean	Afyon
62/160	Central Anatolia	Ankara
62/172	Central Anatolia	Ankara
62/191	Central Anatolia	Ankara
64/13	Central Anatolia	Ankara
64/14	Central Anatolia	Ankara
64/14.06.1	Central Anatolia	Ankara
64/14.10	Central Anatolia	Ankara
64/14.12	Central Anatolia	Ankara
77/40	Central Anatolia	Ankara
82/1	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
82/2	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
82/3	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
82/4	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
83/1	Central Anatolia	Yozgat
83/10	Central Anatolia	Kayseri
83/12	Central Anatolia	Kayseri
83/13	Central Anatolia	Kayseri
83/3	Central Anatolia	Kayseri
83/5	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
83/6	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
83/8	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
83/9	Central Anatolia	Kayseri
85/1	Eastern Anatolia	Ağrı
85/11	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
85/14	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum

Table A. 1. The Origin of European Black Poplar Trees in Behiçbey Clone Bank

Table A.1 (Continued)

85/15	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
85/16	Eastern Anatolia	Ağrı
85/4	Eastern Anatolia	Ağrı
85/6	Eastern Anatolia	Ağrı
85/7	Eastern Anatolia	Ağrı
87/1	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
88/1	Central Anatolia	Ankara
88/3	Central Anatolia	Ankara
88/4	Aegean	Aydin
88/5	Aegean	Denizli
88/6	Aegean	Denizli
88/8	Aegean	Denizli
ALTERRA	Foreign	Foreign
ANADOLU	Central Anatolia	Ankara
ATA 1	Central Anatolia	Ankara
ÇUBUK 1	Central Anatolia	Ankara
ÇUBUK 2	Central Anatolia	Ankara
EFN.1	Foreign	Foreign
EFN.2	Foreign	Foreign
FARCFLHHZ 35	Foreign	Foreign
GAZİ	Central Anatolia	Ankara
GEYVE	Central Anatolia	Ankara
KAE N.92	Unknown	Unknown
KELKİT 1	Blacksea	Gümüşhane
KELKİT 11	Blacksea	Gümüşhane
KELKİT 3	Blacksea	Gümüşhane
KELKİT 4	Blacksea	Gümüşhane
KELKİT 6	Blacksea	Gümüşhane
KELKİT 7	Blacksea	Gümüşhane
KELKİT 8	Blacksea	Gümüşhane
KELKİT 9	Blacksea	Gümüşhane
KOCABEY	Mediterranean	Adana
LVUBAKA	Foreign	Foreign

## Table A.1 (Continued)

N.02.01.02	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.01.04	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.01.05	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.02.01	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.02.03	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.02.06	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.01	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.013	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.02	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.03	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.06	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.07	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.08	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.09	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.10	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.05.12	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.07.02	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.07.03	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.07.04	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.07.05	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.08.01	Open pollination	Open pollination
N.02.338	Unknown	Unknown
N.03.324	Unknown	Unknown
N.03.333	Unknown	Unknown
N.03.355	Eastern Anatolia	Erzincan
N.03.356	Eastern Anatolia	Erzincan
N.03.357	Eastern Anatolia	Erzincan
N.03.358	Eastern Anatolia	Erzincan
N.03.364	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.03.365	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.03.365	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.03.366	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.03.367	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum

Table A.1 (Continued)

N.03.368	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.03.368.1	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.03.368.A	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.03.371	Eastern Anatolia	Elazığ
N.03.372	Eastern Anatolia	Elazığ
N.03.373	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
N.03.375	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
N.03.376	Central Anatolia	Kırşehir
N.03.377	Central Anatolia	Ankara
N.03.378	Central Anatolia	Ankara
N.03.399	Unknown	Unknown
N.62.164	Unknown	Unknown
N.82.008	Unknown	Unknown
N.82.166	Unknown	Unknown
N.85.010	Unknown	Unknown
N.85.018	Unknown	Unknown
N.90.008	Eastern Anatolia	Kars
N.90.010	Eastern Anatolia	Van
N.90.011	Eastern Anatolia	Van
N.90.012	Eastern Anatolia	Van
N.90.013	Eastern Anatolia	Muş
N.90.014	Eastern Anatolia	Bingol
N.90.016	Eastern Anatolia	Malatya
N.90.020	Eastern Anatolia	Sivas
N.90.024	Eastern Anatolia	Sivas
N.90.027	Eastern Anatolia	Sivas
N.90.028	Eastern Anatolia	Sivas
N.90.030	Eastern Anatolia	Sivas
N.90.032	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.90.034	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.90.035	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum
N.90.036	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum

# Table A.1 (Continued)

N.90.038	Eastern Anatolia	Erzincan		
N.90.039	Eastern Anatolia	Erzincan		
N.90.045	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum		
N.90.046	Eastern Anatolia	Erzurum		
N.90.050	Central Anatolia	Ankara		
N.90.062	Unknown	Unknown		
N.90.065	Unknown	Unknown		
N.90.102	Unknown	Unknown		
N.91.002	Unknown	Unknown		
N.91.021	Unknown	Unknown		
N.91.052	Blacksea	corum		
N.91.054	Unknown	Unknown		
N.91.058	Central Anatolia	Yozgat		
N.91.059	Central Anatolia	Yozgat		
N.91.063	Central Anatolia	Yozgat		
N.91.067	Eastern Anatolia	Sivas		
N.91.068	Eastern Anatolia	Malatya		
N.91.071	Eastern Anatolia	Malatya		
N.91.073	Eastern Anatolia	Malatya		
N.91.074	Central Anatolia	Ankara		
N.91.075	Mediterranean	Kahramanmaraş		
N.91.076	Mediterranean	Kahramanmaraş		
N.91.077	Mediterranean	Kahramanmaraş		
N.91.078	Mediterranean	Kahramanmaraş		
N.91.080	Mediterranean	Kahramanmaraş		
N.91.081	Central Anatolia	Kayseri		
N.91.083	Central Anatolia	Kayseri		
N.91.084	Central Anatolia	Kayseri		
N.91.085	Central Anatolia	Kayseri		
N.91.088	Central Anatolia	Niğde		
N.91.089	Central Anatolia	Niğde		
N.91.090	Central Anatolia	Niğde		
N.91.091	Central Anatolia	Aksaray		

Table A.1 (Continued)

N.91.092	Central Anatolia	Aksaray
N.91.094	Eastern Anatolia	Malatya
N.91.095	Southeastern	Adiyaman
N.91.101	Southeastern	Gaziantep
N.91.102	Southeastern	Gaziantep
N.91.103	Southeastern	Gaziantep
N.91.105	Southeastern	Gaziantep
N.91.108	Southeastern	Gaziantep
N.91.109	Mediterranean	Osmaniye
N.91.110	Mediterranean	Osmaniye
N.91.111	Mediterranean	Osmaniye
N.91.112	Mediterranean	Hatay
N.91.118	Mediterranean	Antalya
N.91.119	Southeastern	Gaziantep
N.91.120	Southeastern	Gaziantep
N.91.122	Marmara	Sakarya
N.91.212	Unknown	Unknown
N.92.058	Unknown	Unknown
N.92.060	Unknown	Unknown
N.92.073	Unknown	Unknown
N.92.097	Unknown	Unknown
N.92.114	Unknown	Unknown
N.92.123	Marmara	Sakarya
N.92.124	Marmara	Sakarya
N.92.126	Marmara	Bilecik
N.92.128	Marmara	Bilecik
N.92.130	Marmara	Bilecik
N.92.131	Marmara	Bilecik
N.92.132	Marmara	Bilecik
N.92.133	Central Anatolia	Eskişehir
N.92.134	Central Anatolia	Eskişehir
N.92.137	Marmara	Yalova
N.92.138	Marmara	Yalova

Table A.1 (Continued)

N.92.140	Marmara	Kocaeli		
N.92.142	Central Anatolia Çankırı			
N.92.144	Central Anatolia Çankırı			
N.92.148	Central Anatolia Çankırı			
N.92.149	Blacksea	Kastamonu		
N.92.152	Blacksea	Kastamonu		
N.92.153	Blacksea	Kastamonu		
N.92.154	Blacksea	Kastamonu		
N.92.156	Blacksea	Kastamonu		
N.92.159	Blacksea	Sinop		
N.92.160	Blacksea	Samsun		
N.92.162	Blacksea	Samsun		
N.92.164	Blacksea	Amasya		
N.92.165	Blacksea	Amasya		
N.92.166	Blacksea	Tokat		
N.92.167	Blacksea	Tokat		
N.92.168	Blacksea	Tokat		
N.92.169	Blacksea	Tokat		
N.92.170	Blacksea	Amasya		
N.92.171	Blacksea	Amasya		
N.92.176	Blacksea	Tokat		
N.92.179	Blacksea	Tokat		
N.92.182	Blacksea	Tokat		
N.92.185	Blacksea	Amasya		
N.92.187	Blacksea	Amasya		
N.92.195	Blacksea	Amasya		
N.92.200	Blacksea Çorum			
N.92.202	Central Anatolia	Çankırı		
N.92.204	Central Anatolia	Çankırı		
N.92.206	Aegean	Kütahya		
N.92.208	Aegean	Kütahya		
N.92.209	Aegean	Afyon		
N.92.211	Aegean Afyon			

Table A.1 (Continued)

N.92.213	Aegean	Afyon
N.92.214	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.215	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.217	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.218	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.219	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.223	Central Anatolia	Ankara
N.92.224	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.230	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.232	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.233	Central Anatolia	Karaman
N.92.236	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.237	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.239	Central Anatolia	Niğde
N.92.240	Central Anatolia	Niğde
N.92.243	Mediterranean	Adana
N.92.245	Marmara	İçel
N.92.247	Central Anatolia	Karaman
N.92.250	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.252	Central Anatolia	Konya
N.92.254	Aegean	Afyon
N.92.255	Aegean	Afyon
N.92.256	Central Anatolia	Eskişehir
N.92.258	Central Anatolia	Eskişehir
N.92.260	Mediterranean	Adana
N.92.269	Blacksea	Zonguldak
N.92.271	Aegean	Kütahya
N.92.276	Aegean	Uşak
N.92.278	Aegean	Uşak
N.92.284	Aegean	Denizli
N.92.286	Aegean	Denizli
N.92.289	Aegean	Denizli
N.92.292	Marmara	Isparta

Table A.1 (Continued)

N.92.293	Marmara	Isparta
N.92.295	Marmara	Isparta
N.92.297	Marmara	Isparta
N.92.298	Marmara	Isparta
N.92.299	Marmara	Isparta
N.92.301	Aegean	Afyon
N.92.302	Aegean	Afyon
N.92.831	Unknown	Unknown
N.93.304	Southeastern	Gaziantep
N.93.306	Marmara	Bursa
N.93.309	Central Anatolia	Sivas
N.95.045	Unknown	Unknown
N.96.310	Eastern Anatolia	Malatya
N.96.315	Eastern Anatolia	Malatya
N.96.316	Eastern Anatolia	Malatya
N.96.317	Eastern Anatolia	Malatya
N.96.319	Eastern Anatolia	Elazığ
N.96.320	Eastern Anatolia	Bitlis
N.96.321	Eastern Anatolia	Van
N.96.322	Eastern Anatolia	Van
N.96.323	Eastern Anatolia	Van
N.96.325	Eastern Anatolia	Van
URIFFMH	Foreign	Foreign

## **APPENDIX B**

Table B.1. Mean squares, variance components as percent of total variance (VC), and broad sense heritability estimates  $(h^2)$  for the studied traits of all clones without removing duplicated clones

Trait	Repeat (df=1)	Region (df=9)	VC	Clones/regions (df=275)	VC	Error (df=283)	VC	$h^2$
Cellulose	5.28 <sup>ns</sup>	455.18**	0.92	196.21**	54.46	53.30	44.62	0.71
SuSy	82.75 <sup>ns</sup>	19769.0**	2.23	11108.00**	58.18	2835.55	39.59	0.75
UGPase	$771.48^{*}$	498.83**	2.81	287.55**	31.75	146.34	65.44	0.49
Lignin	1.50 <sup>ns</sup>	59.51**	3.59	23.17**	31.85	11.67	64.56	0.50
PAL	37.91**	5.55 <sup>ns</sup>	0.49	10.11**	48.35	3.53	51.16	0.65
4CL	4.40 <sup>ns</sup>	3.4**	0.13	3.71**	39.43	1.62	60.44	0.57
CAD	0.0 <sup>ns</sup>	0.54**	1.39	0.33**	32.41	0.17	66.20	0.49
Glucose	40.71 <sup>ns</sup>	152.97**	0.57	132.04**	66.95	25.82	32.49	0.80

Table B.2. Pearson correlations coefficients between studied traits

	SuSy	Cell.	PAL	4CL	CAD	Lign.	Glu.	Height	Diam.
UGPase	0.032	0.130*	-0.128*	-0.082	-0.120*	0.082	0.038	0.053	-0.025
SUSY		0.133*	-0.082	0.150*	0.157**	0.043	0.070	0.101	0.125*
Cell.			0.106	0.047	0.105	0.044	0.125*	0.133*	0.132*
PAL				0.219**	0.153*	0.049	-0.019	0.037	0.069
4CL					0.342**	0.028	0.062	-0.006	-0.051
CAD						-0.029	0.088	-0.023	0.019
Lign.							0.267**	-0.040	-0.139*
Glucose								0.048	0.046
Height									0.777**

\* Correlation is significant at  $P \le 0.05$  level (2-tailed). \*\* Correlation is significant at  $P \le 0.01$  level (2-tailed).

#### **APPENDIX C**



#### **C.1. Total Protein Content Determination**

#### C.2. PAL Specific Activity Calculation

Specific activity of PAL : Units / mg = µmol of trans-cinnamate mg<sup>-1</sup> protein min<sup>-1</sup>



- V<sub>tot</sub> = Total volume of reaction mixture
- V<sub>pro</sub> = Volume of protein inside of reaction mixture
- 1 = Light path = 0.725 cm (for 250 µL well)
- DF = Dilution factor
- · ΔA<sub>290/min</sub>sample = Absorbance after an hour extracted from initial absorbance and calculated for minute
- E<sub>transcinnamate</sub> = Molar extinction coefficient of transcinnamate at 290 nm as μM (1×10<sup>4</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>cm<sup>-1</sup>)

#### C.3. Determination of Cellulose Content

Cellulose content of the branches was determined from 0.125 g freeze-dried samples according to the standard procedure described by Uppdegraf (1969). All chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Germany). The powders were digested by 750 µl acetic acid/nitric acid reagent to remove lignin, hemicellulose and xylosans inside of 15 ml falcon tubes. Acetic/nitric reagent was prepared by mixing 150 ml 80% acetic acid and 15 ml concentrated nitric acid. After stirring 2 minutes, loosely capped tubes were placed in a boiling water bath for 30 minutes. Following that they were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 5000 rpm. Supernatants were discarded carefully to prevent disruption of the solid cellulose found at the bottom of the tube. The remaining residue was washed with distilled water to remove acetic/nitric reagent completely and centrifuged again for 5 minutes at 5000 rpm. After discarding supernatant, 2.5 ml 67% sulphuric acid was added to the remaining residue and allowed to stand for an hour at room temperature. During this time, tubes were vortexed twice to assure complete degradation of cellulose. From these tubes, 250 µl of solutions were taken and transferred to 50 ml falcon tubes which include 25 ml distilled water and they vortexed for a minute. Inside of 15 ml falcon tubes, 250 µl of this diluted solution, 1 ml distilled water, and 2.5 ml cool anthrone reagent were mixed well. Anthrone reagent was prepared by solving 0.2 g anthrone with 100 ml concentrated H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. It was chilled 2 hours in refrigerator prior to use so that it could be utilized freshly. Finally, loosely capped tubes were heated in boiling water bath for 10 minutes and cooled rapidly. By using 96 well Epoch Elisa Micro Plate Reader (Biotech, France), the color range was measured at 630 nm in triplicate by using cold anthrone reagent and distilled water as blanks.

#### C.4. Preparation of Cellulose Standard

To prepare the stock standard, 25 mg pure cellulose (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) was added into 2.5 ml 67% sulphuric acid and allowed to stand for an hour. Tubes were vortexed twice during this time.  $250 \ \mu$ l of solution was diluted to  $25 \ ml$  with distilled

water to contain 100  $\mu$ g cellulose / ml. Volume of series of 25  $\mu$ l, 50  $\mu$ l, 100  $\mu$ l, 200  $\mu$ l, 400  $\mu$ l, 600  $\mu$ l, 800  $\mu$ l, 1000  $\mu$ l, and 1250  $\mu$ l were taken from this diluted stock solution. Final volumes were brought to 1250  $\mu$ l with distilled water. Finally, 2.5 ml cool anthrone reagent was added and vortexed for a minute. The tubes were placed in a boling water bath for 10 minutes. After cooling rapidly, the color range was measured at 630 nm in in triplicate. Anthrone reagent was used as a blank.

#### C.5. Determination of Acid-Soluble Lignin Content

Acid soluble lignin content was determined from 0.2 g oven-dried samples according to the standard TAPPI Test Method T250 "Acid-Soluble Lignin in Wood and Pulp" which is a modification of the classic "Klason Lignin" determination (Dence, 1992). All chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Germany). Samples were first treated with 3 ml 72% cold H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, added gradually. After stirring the test tubes a minute, they were allowed to stand for 2 hours at room temperature and vortexed once an hour. Having transferred the content of the test tubes to baby jars which include 50 ml distilled water, the remaining residue at the test tube was rinsed with extra distilled water and transferred to baby jar. Final volume of solution was brought to 115 ml to dilute the acid 3%. Baby jars were loosely capped and autoclaved for 30 minutes to hydrolyze the polysaccharides to soluble fragments, later allowed cooling until near room temperature before removing the caps and settle the supernatant until it is clear. The supernatant solution which includes acid soluble lignin was filtered through Whatman number three filter paper to 100 ml Erlenmeyer flask. To obtain the absorbance range between 0.2 and 0.7, a sample of the clear filtrate was diluted as needed. Inside of 96 well plate 30 µl sample and 240 µl 3% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> were mixed by pipetting. The absorbance at 205 nm was measured in triplicate by using the same solvent, 3 % H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, as a blank.

#### C.6. Determination of D-Glucose Content

The determination of D-Glucose content was carried out by some modification and combination of TAPPI Test Method T250 "Acid-Soluble Lignin in Wood and Pulp" and the standard procedure which was described by Hedge and Hofreiter (1962). All chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Germany). The supernatant obtained from 0.2 g sample by hydrolysis with 3 ml 72% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, dilution to 115 ml with distilled water, autoclaving for 30 minutes, and filtering through Whatman number three filter paper, respectively was used to measure total carbohydrate content. Exactly one hour later after autoclave stage, above 1 ml of supernatant solution, 4 ml cold anthrone reagent was added and vortexed for a minute inside of 15 ml falcon tube. Afterwards, falcon tubes were placed inside of boiling water bath for 8 minutes. Having cooled rapidly, the color range was measured at 630 nm in triplicate by using 96 well Epoch Elisa Micro Reader plate by using cold anthrone reagent as blanks.

#### C.7. Preparation of D-Glucose Standard

To prepare the stock standard, 0.2 g D-glucose was dissolved inside of 115 ml distilled water. Next, to prepare working standard, 10 ml of stock solution was completed to 100 ml with distilled water to contain 174  $\mu$ g glucose / ml. Volume of series of 50  $\mu$ l, 100  $\mu$ l, 200  $\mu$ l, 400  $\mu$ l, 600  $\mu$ l, 800  $\mu$ l, and 1000  $\mu$ l were taken from this solution. Final volumes were brought to 1000  $\mu$ l with distilled water. Finally, 4 ml cool anthrone reagent was added and vortexed for a minute. The tubes were placed in a boling water bath for 10 minutes. After cooling rapidly, the color range was measured at 630 nm in triplicate. Anthrone reagent was used as a blank.

## **CURRICULUM VITAE**

### **PERSONAL INFORMATION**

: TAŞKIRAN, Bircan
: Turkish (TC)
: 19 May 1978 / KARABÜK
: +90 312 210 51 60
: taskirans78@gmail.com

## **EDUCATION**

Degree	Institution	Year of Graduation
PhD	METU Biology	2020
MS	METU Biology	2014
BS	Abant İzzet Baysal University, Biology	2009
High School	Karabük Fevzi Çakmak High School	1994

## WORK EXPERIENCE

Year	Place	Enrollment
2018-now	METU, Biology	Research Assistant
2017-2018	Cornell University, SIPS,	Visiting Scholar
	Horticulture Department	
2011-2017	METU, Biology	<b>Research Assistant</b>
2010-2011	Çankırı Karatekin University, Biology	Research Assistant

## FOREIGN LANGUAGES

Advanced English

## PUBLICATIONS

Acar P., Taşkıran B., Özdeğirmenci F., and Kaya Z. (2019) Turkish *Salix* L. Species: Molecular Phylogeny and Morphology *Forestist in press* 

## HOBBIES

Travelling, Arts, Gardening

## **INTERNATIONAL CONGRESS**

Toth J., Cala A., Taskiran B., Stack G., Wilk R., Crawford J., Yeats T., Viands D., Smart C.D., Rose J.K., and. Smart L.B. (2019) Characterization of Cannabinoid Profiles and THCA/CBDA Gene Sequences in Industrial Hemp Cultivars in New York State. Plant and Animal Genome Conference XXVII (PAG) San Diego, CA, US January 12-16, 2019 (Poster Presentation, PO1087)

Taşkıran B., Guray N.T., and Kaya Z. (2018). Genetics control of 4-Coumarate Coenzyme A Ligase (4CL) enzyme involved in lignin biosynthesis of European Black Poplar (*Populus nigra* L.). Plant and Animal Genome Conference XXVI (PAG) San Diego, CA, USA January 13-17, 2018 (Poster Presentation, P0628)

Acar P., Özdeğirmenci F., Kaya Z., and Taşkıran B. (2018) Haplotype Frequency Analysis of the Turkish *Salix* L. (Salicaceae). Plant and Animal Genome Conference XXVI (PAG) San Diego, CA, USA January 13-17, 2018 (Poster Presentation, P0634)

Taşkıran B. and Kaya Z. (2016). Association genetics of Phenylalanine Ammonia Lyase (PAL) and Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase (CAD) enzymes involved in lignin biosynthesis of european black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.). FEBS J, 283: P-02.08.5-017. doi:10.1111/febs.13806

Taşkıran B. and Kaya Z. (2014). Genetics of cellulose, lignin and D-glucose contents in european black poplar (*Populus nigra* L.) populations from Turkey. The third International Symposium on Biology of Rare and Endemic Plant Species 19-23 April, 2014, Antalya / Turkey (Oral Presentation)

Uslu E., Aksoy N., Taşkıran B., and Babaç M.T. (2010). Some monumental oak tree records from Bolu. The Oak-Ecology History and Management Planning II, 3-6 June 2010, Isparta / Turkey (Poster Presentation)